



Working Draft

of the

New Constitution

22 November 1995

ERRATA - PAGE 51

The following clause has been omitted from the Chapter on Local Government:

CHAPTER 10
Administration and Finance

An enforceable code of conduct for councillors and officials of local government may be provided for by legislation.

22 November 1995

Dear Sir\Madam

Re: Working Draft of the New Constitution

Thank you for your submission made to the Constitutional Assembly during the first phase of the constitution-making process. Your input is highly valued.

Please find enclosed a copy of the working draft prepared on the basis of submissions received. We also attach a guidelines document should you wish to make further submissions and draw your attention to the deadline for submissions which is the 20 February 1996.

Should you wish to receive an extra copy(ies), please contact our office or write to our address given in the guidelines document.

Thank you for your interest in the constitution-making process.

HASSEN EBRAHIM EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

CONSTITUTIONAL ASSEMBLY THE NEW CONSTITUTION INVITATION TO COMMENT ON THE WORKING DRAFT

READING THE DOCUMENT

The Working Draft is broken up into:

a. Chapters (e.g. Chapter 2 - Bill of Rights)

b. Clauses (e.g. 10. Freedom of Religion, Belief and Opinion)

GUIDELINES FOR COMMENTS ON THE WORKING DRAFT (Comment is invited on all aspects of the Working Draft)

Please indicate which Chapter and/or Clause your comment refers to. (If you so wish, and if at all possible, indicate if your comment is on:

* an area of contention

* an area which you feel has been omitted

* an area in which agreement has not yet been reached

* an area in which agreement had been reached, but you feel that the issue has to be looked at again)

If you wish to make a general comment, please indicate which aspect you are referring to, e.g. Language.

Should your comment be lengthy, please supply us with an executive summary, highlighting the key points (and if possible provide us with the computer disk, for which you will be reimbursed on request).

COMMENTS SHOULD BE ADDRESSED TO:

The Executive Director Constitutional Assembly

Postal Address:

P.O. Box 1192

Cape Town

OR

Fax No:

(021)461-4339/461-4487

OR

E-Mail Address:

conassem@iaccess.za

OR

Telkom Constitutional Talk-Line: (011) 329 8000

Please indicate if you have used more than one of the above means of communication.

DEADLINE: 20 February 1996

Comments will not be considered beyond this date.

ENQUIRIES: Tel: (021)24-5031 Lucille Meyer or Fairuz Mullagee - Page: (021-468 5050 Code 2712)

PREAMBLE

(Note: The Preamble is still under discussion)

CHAPTER 1

FOUNDING PROVISIONS

REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

The Republic of South Africa is one sovereign democratic state founded on a commitment to achieve
equality, to promote and protect human dignity, and to advance fundamental human rights and
freedoms.

SUPREMACY OF THE CONSTITUTION

This Constitution is the supreme law of the Republic. It binds the Republic, its institutions, its citizens
and all persons within its borders; law or conduct inconsistent with it is invalid.

CITIZENSHIP

- 3. (1) There is a common South African citizenship.
 - (2) Every citizen is equally-
 - (a) entitled to the rights, privileges and benefits of citizenship; and
 - (b) subject to the duties, obligations and responsibilities of citizenship.
 - (3) National legislation must provide for the acquisition, loss and restoration of citizenship.

TERRITORY OF THE REPUBLIC

The territory of the Republic is described in Schedule 1.

NATIONAL SYMBOLS

The national flag is described in Schedule 2.

(Note: It has been agreed to keep the existing national flag. The National Anthem is still under discussion.)

LANGUAGES

6.

Option 1

- (1) The official languages of the Republic are Afrikaans, English, isiNdebele, Sesotho sa Leboa, Sesotho, siSwati, Xitsonga, Setswana, Tshivenda, isiXhosa and isiZulu.
- (2) The Pan South African Language Board must promote the conditions for the development and use of the official languages.
- (3) The Pan South African Language Board is also responsible for promoting respect for and the development of languages including the Khoi and San Languages, German, Greek, Gujerati, Hindi, Portugese, Tamil, Telegu, Urdu, sign language and other languages commonly used by communities in the Republic, as well as Arabic, Hebrew, Sanskrit and other languages used for religious purposes.
- (4) National and provincial government may use particular official languages for the purposes of government, taking into account usage, practicality and expense.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE	2
CHAPTER 1	
Founding Provisions	2
CHAPTER 2	
BILL OF RIGHTS	4
CHAPTER 3 PARLIAMENT	
PARLIAMENT	16
CHAPTER 4	
Council of Provinces	20
CHAPTER 5	
THE NATIONAL EXECUTIVE	25
CHAPTER 6	
COURTS AND ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE	29
CHAPTER 7	
STATE INSTITUTIONS SUPPORTING CONSTITUTIONAL DEMOCRACY	34
CHAPTER 8	
Provinces	37
CHAPTER 9	
PROVINCIAL AND NATIONAL LEGISLATIVE AND EXECUTIVE COMPETENCES	46
CHAPTER 10	
LOCAL GOVERNMENT	50
CHAPTER 11	
Traditional Authorities	53
CHAPTER 12	
Public Administration	54
CHAPTER 13	
SECURITY SERVICES	56
CHAPTER 14	
FINANCE	59
CHAPTER 15	
GENERAL PROVISIONS	62

CHAPTER 2

BILL OF RIGHTS

STATE'S DUTY TO RESPECT AND PROTECT RIGHTS

7. The state must respect and protect the rights in this Bill of Rights.

EQUALITY

8. (1) Everyone is equal before the law and has the right to equal protection and benefit of the law.

(2)

Option 1

Equality includes the full and equal enjoyment of all rights and freedoms. To achieve equality, legislative and other measures that are designed [and likely] to protect and advance groups or categories of persons disadvantaged by [unfair] discrimination may be used.

Option 2

This section shall not preclude measures likely to achieve the adequate protection and advancement of persons or categories of persons disadvantaged by unfair discrimination, in order to enable their full and equal enjoyment of all rights, freedoms and liberties.

- (3) Neither the state nor any person may [unfairly] discriminate directly or indirectly against anyone on one or more grounds, including [but not limited to] race, gender, sex, marital status, ethnic or social origin, colour, sexual orientation, age, disability, religion, conscience, belief, culture, language and birth.
- (4) Discrimination on one or more of the grounds listed in subsection (3) is unfair unless it is established that the discrimination is fair.

HUMAN DIGNITY

9. Everyone has inherent dignity and the right to have their dignity respected and protected.

LIFE

10.

Option 1

Everyone has the right to life [and the death penalty is hereby abolished].

Option 2

Everyone has the right to life, and the right not to be deprived of life except by execution of a court sentence following conviction for a crime for which the death penalty is prescribed by an Act of Parliament.

FREEDOM AND SECURITY OF THE PERSON

- 11. (1) Everyone has the right to freedom of the person, including the right not to be -
 - (a) deprived of liberty arbitrarily or without just cause; or
 - (b) detained without trial.

Option 2

The same as section 3 of the interim Constitution.

Option 3

- (1) Afrikaans, English, isiNdebele, Sesotho sa Leboa, Sesotho, siSwati, Xitsonga, Setswana, Tshivenda, isiXhosa and isiZulu are recognised as the national languages of the Republic.
- (2) The use of these languages as official languages must be regulated by national and provincial legislation.

ASSEMBLY, DEMONSTRATION AND PETITION

16. Everyone has the right, peacefully and unarmed, to assemble, to demonstrate, or to present petitions.

FREEDOM OF ASSOCIATION

17. Everyone has the right to freedom of association.

POLITICAL RIGHTS

- 18. (1) Every citizen is free to make political choices, which includes the right -
 - (a) to form a political party;
 - (b) to participate in the activities of, or to recruit members for, a political party; and
 - (c) to campaign for a political party or cause.
 - (2) Every [adult] citizen has the right to free, fair and regular elections for any legislative body established in terms of the Constitution, to vote in those elections and to do so in secret.
 - (3) Every citizen has the right to stand for election to public office and, if elected, to hold office.

CITIZENSHIP

19. No citizen may be deprived of citizenship.

FREEDOM OF MOVEMENT AND RESIDENCE

- 20. (1) Everyone has the right to freedom of movement and residence anywhere in the Republic.
 - (2) Everyone has the right to leave the Republic.
 - (3) Every citizen has the right to enter and to remain in the Republic.
 - (4) Every citizen has the right to a passport.

ECONOMIC ACTIVITY

21.

Option 1

No provision regarding a right to economic activity.

Option 2

- (1) Everyone has the right to pursue a livelihood and engage in economic activity anywhere in the Republic.
- (2) Subsection (1) does not preclude measures that are designed to promote the protection or the improvement of the quality of life, economic growth, human development, social justice, basic conditions of employment, fair labour practices, or equal opportunity for all, provided such measures are justifiable in an open and democratic society based on freedom and equality.

Option 3

Everyone has the right to pursue the livelihood of their choice, including the right to choose freely their occupation or profession, their place of work and their place of training.

LABOUR RELATIONS

22. (1) Everyone has the right to fair labour practices.

- (2) Everyone has the right to security of the person, [bodily and psychological integrity] including the right -
 - · (a) to be free from all forms of violence; and
 - [(b) to be secure in, and control their own body].
- (3) No one may be -
 - (a) tortured in any way;
 - (b) treated or punished in a cruel, inhuman or degrading way; or
 - (c) subjected to medical or scientific experiments without that person's consent.

SLAVERY, SERVITUDE AND FORCED LABOUR

No one may be subjected to slavery, servitude or forced labour.

PRIVACY

- 13. Everyone has the right to privacy, including the right not to have -
 - (a) their person or home searched;
 - (b) their property searched;
 - (c) their possessions seized; and
 - (d) the privacy of their communications violated.

FREEDOM OF RELIGION, BELIEF AND OPINION

- 14. (1) Everyone has the right to freedom of conscience, religion, thought, belief and opinion.
 - (2) Religious observances may be conducted at state or state-aided institutions provided that -
 - (a) those observances follow rules made by an appropriate authority;
 - (b) they are conducted on an equitable basis; and
 - (c) attendance at them is free and voluntary.
 - (3) The Constitution does not prevent legislation recognising the validity of marriages concluded under a system of religious law [or other recognised traditions], or a system of personal and family law adhered to by persons professing a particular religion to the extent that the system is consistent with the Bill of Rights.

FREEDOM OF EXPRESSION

- 15. (1) Everyone has the right to freedom of expression, including -
 - (a) freedom of the press and other media; and
 - (b) freedom to receive and impart information and ideas.
 - (2) Subsection (1) does not protect -
 - (a) propaganda for war;
 - (b) the incitement of imminent violence; or
 - [(c) advocacy of hatred based on race, ethnicity, gender or religion that constitutes incitement to discrimination].

(3)

Option 1

The state must regulate any media that it finances or controls to ensure that it is impartial and presents a diversity of opinion.

Option 2

The state must regulate any newspapers and electronic media that it finances or controls to ensure that they are impartial and represent broadly the views of society.

practices has the right to obtain legally enforceable security of tenure or, where appropriate, alternative redress, subject to and in accordance with national legislation.

Option 3

- (1) Property, including the right to acquire, hold and dispose of property, is guaranteed.
- (2) No one may be arbitrarily deprived of property.
- (3) Property may be expropriated only in accordance with a law of general application-
 - (a) for public purposes or in the public interest which includes land reform; and
 - (b) subject to the payment of just and equitable compensation, the amount, the timing and manner of payment of which have been either agreed or decided by a court.
- (4) When a court decides the amount, the timing and manner of payment of compensation it must equitably balance the public interest and the interests of those affected, considering all relevant factors including -
 - (a) the current use of the property;
 - (b) the history of its acquisition;
 - (c) its market value; and
 - (d) any beneficial improvements after its acquisition.
- (5) Every person and community dispossessed of land after 19 June 1913 as a result of a discriminatory law or practice has the right to claim restitution of the land or equitable redress subject to and in accordance with this section and a law of general application.
- (6) In this section "discriminatory law or practice" means any law or practice that would have been inconsistent with section 8 had that section been in force at the time the law or practice dispossessed the person or community.

HOUSING AND LAND

- 25. (1) Everyone has the right to have access to adequate housing. The state must take reasonable and progressive legislative and other measures to secure this right.
 - (2) No one may be evicted from their home arbitrarily and without an order of court made after considering the relevant circumstances.
 - [(3) Everyone has the right to have equitable access to land. The state must take reasonable and progressive legislative and other measures to facilitate this access.]

HEALTH, FOOD, WATER, AND SOCIAL SECURITY

- 26. (1) Everyone has the right to have access to -
 - (a) health care services, including reproductive health care, of the highest attainable standard;
 - (b) sufficient food and clean water; and
 - (c) a social security system including, if they are unable to support themselves and their dependants, appropriate social assistance.
 - (2) The state must take reasonable and progressive legislative and other measures to secure each of these rights.
 - (3) No one may be refused emergency medical treatment.

- (2) Workers have the right -
 - (a) to form and join trade unions;
 - (b) to participate in the activities and programmes of a trade union; and
 - (c) to strike.
- (3) Employers have the right -
 - (a) to form and join employers' organisations;
 - (b) to participate in the activities and programmes of an employers' organisation; and [(c)to lock-out].
- (4) Every trade union and every employers' organisation has the right -
 - (a) to determine its own administration, programmes and activities;
 - (b) to organise;
 - (c) to bargain collectively; and
 - (d) to form and join a federation.

ENVIRONMENT

- 23. Everyone has the right -
 - (a) to an environment that is not harmful to their health or well-being;
 - (b) to have their environment protected through reasonable legislative and other measures designed to -
 - (i) prevent pollution and ecological degradation;
 - (ii) promote conservation; and
 - (iii) secure sustainable development and use of natural resources.

PROPERTY

24.

Option 1

No property clause.

Option 2

- (1) No one may be deprived of property except in accordance with a law of general application.
- (2) Property may be expropriated only in terms of a law of general application -
 - (a) for a public purpose or in the public interest; and
 - (b) may be subject to the payment of compensation, within a period and in a manner as agreed or decided by a court.
- (3) When any court decides either the amount of compensation, or the period within or the manner by which payment must be made, the court must determine an equitable balance between the public interest and the interests of those affected, having regard to all relevant factors, including -
 - (a) the current use of the property;
 - (b) the history and value of its acquisition;
 - (c) its market value; and
 - (d) the ability of the state to pay.
- (4) This section does not apply to or invalidate measures aimed at bringing about land reform.
- (5) Every person and community dispossessed of land after 19 June 1913 as a result of discriminatory laws or practices has the right to restitution of that land, or equitable redress, subject to and in accordance with national legislation.
- (6) Every person and community whose tenure is legally insecure as a result of discriminatory laws or

ACADEMIC FREEDOM

29.

Option 1

- (1) Every institution of higher learning and everyone within these institutions has the right to academic freedom.
- (2) Everyone has the right to freedom of artistic creativity and scientific research [activity].

Option 2

The right should form part of the right to freedom of religion, belief and opinion (section 14) and it should only apply to individuals, not to institutions.

LANGUAGE AND CULTURE

30. Everyone has the right to use the language and to participate in the cultural life of their choice, but no one exercising these rights may violate the rights of anyone else.

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

- 31. (1) Everyone has the right of access to -
 - (a) any information held by the state; and
 - (b) any information that is held by another natural or juristic person and that is required for the exercise or protection of any rights.
 - [(2) This right must be regulated by national legislation.]

JUST ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION

Option 1

- 32. (1) Everyone has the right to administrative action that is lawful, [reasonable/justifiable], and procedurally fair.
 - (2) Everyone has the right to be given written reasons for administrative action, unless the reasons have been published.

Option 2

- (1) No one may be adversely affected by administrative action that is unlawful or unreasonable.
- (2) Everyone whose rights are adversely affected by administrative action has the right to fair procedure unless the administrative action is of general application.
- (3) Everyone whose rights or interests have been adversely affected by an administrative action has the right to written reasons.

ACCESS TO COURTS

33. Everyone has the right to have any dispute that can be resolved by law decided in a fair, public hearing in a court of law or, where appropriate or necessary, another independent and impartial forum.

ARRESTED, DETAINED AND ACCUSED PERSONS

- 34. (1) Everyone who is arrested for allegedly committing an offence has the right -
 - (a) to remain silent;
 - (b) to be informed, promptly and in a language that the arrested person understands -
 - (i) of the right to remain silent; and
 - (ii) of the consequences of not remaining silent;

CHILDREN

- 27. (1) Every child has the right -
 - (a) to a name and a nationality from birth;
 - (b) to family care, [parental care,] or appropriate alternative care when removed from the family environment;
 - (c) to basic nutrition, shelter, basic health care services, and social services;
 - (d) to be protected from maltreatment, neglect, or abuse;
 - (e) to be protected from exploitative labour practices, and not to be required or permitted to perform work or provide services that are inappropriate for a person of that child's age, or that place at risk the child's well-being, education, physical or mental health, or spiritual, moral, or social development; and
 - (f) not to be detained except as a measure of last resort, in which case, in addition to the rights the child enjoys under sections 11 and 34, the child may be detained only for the shortest possible period of time and has the right to be -
 - (i) kept separately from other detained persons over the age of 18 years; and
 - (ii) treated in a manner, and kept in conditions, that take account of the child's age.
 - (2) The child's best interests are of paramount importance in every matter concerning the child.
 - (3) In this section, "child" means a person under the age of 18 years.

EDUCATION

28.

Option 1

- (1) Everyone has the right -
 - (a) to a basic education, including adult basic education, in a state or state-aided institution;
 - (b) to further education, which the state must take reasonable and progressive legislative and other measures to make generally available and accessible; and
 - (c) to choose instruction in any language where instruction in that language can be reasonably provided at state or state-aided institutions.
- (2) Everyone has the right to establish and maintain, at their own expense, private educational institutions that -
 - (a) do not discriminate on the basis of race;
 - (b) are registered with the state; and
 - (c) maintain standards that are not inferior to standards at comparable state-aided educational institutions.

Option 2

Subsections (1) and (2) above and the following:-

(3) Everyone has the right to educational institutions based on a common culture, language, or religion, provided that there must be no discrimination on the ground of race and provided further that the state may not, in granting aid to educational institutions, discriminate against any educational institution on the ground that it has been established on the basis of a common language, culture, or religion.

has previously been either acquitted or convicted;

- (1) to be sentenced within a reasonable time after being convicted; and
- (m) to the benefit of the least severe of the prescribed punishments if the prescribed punishment for the offence has been changed between the time that the offence was committed and the time of sentencing; and
 - (n) of appeal to, or review by, a higher court.
- (4) Any evidence obtained in a manner that violates any right in the Bill of Rights must be excluded if the admission of that evidence would bring the administration of justice into disrepute.

LIMITATION OF RIGHTS

- 35. (1) The rights in the Bill of Rights may be limited by or pursuant to law of general application only to the extent that the limitation of a right is -
 - (a) [reasonable / reasonable and justifiable / reasonable and necessary / necessary/ justifiable] in an open and democratic society based on freedom and equality;
 - (b) compatible with the nature of the right that it limits; and
 - [(c) consistent with the Republic's obligations under international law].
 - (2) The provisions of the Bill of Rights do not prevent the state from adopting any legislative or other measures designed to prevent or prohibit [unfair] discrimination.
 - (3) Except as provided in subsection (1) or in any other provision of the Constitution, no law may limit any right in the Bill of Rights.

STATES OF EMERGENCY

- 36. (1) An Act of Parliament may provide that a state of emergency may be declared whenever -
 - (a) the life of the nation is threatened by war, invasion, general insurrection, disorder, national disaster, or other public emergency; and
 - (b) declaring a state of emergency is necessary to restore peace or order.
 - (2) Any declaration of a state of emergency, and any legislation enacted or other action taken in consequence of that declaration, may be effective only -
 - (a) prospectively from the date of the declaration; and
 - (b) for no more than 21 days from the date of the declaration, unless the National Assembly resolves to extend the declaration. The National Assembly, by a majority of at least two thirds of its members, may resolve to extend a declaration of a state of emergency for a period of up to three months, or for consecutive periods of up to three months each [for no more than 14 days . . . up to 60 days, or for consecutive periods of up to 60 days each]
 - (3) Any legislation enacted in consequence of a declared state of emergency may derogate from the Bill of Rights only to the extent that -
 - (a) is strictly required by the emergency;
 - (b) it is consistent with the Republic's obligations under international law;
 - (c) it conforms to subsection (4); and
 - (d) it is published in the national Government Gazette immediately after being enacted.
 - (4) No Act of Parliament that authorises a declaration of a state of emergency, and no legislation enacted or other action taken in consequence of a declaration, may permit or authorise -
 - (a) the creation of retrospective crimes or the imposition of retrospective penalties;
 - (b) indemnifying the state, or anyone acting under state authority, for unlawful acts committed during the state of emergency; or
 - (c) any derogation from this section or any of the sections listed below.

- (c) not to be compelled to make any confession or admission that could be used in evidence against that person;
- (d) to be brought before a court of law as soon as reasonably possible, but not later than 48 hours after the arrest, or where the period of 48 hours expires outside ordinary court hours, on the next court day; and while there, to be released from detention unless that person is charged and the court orders the further detention; and

(e)

Option 1

to be released with or without bail, unless the interests of justice require that person to be detained [... if the interests of justice permit that person to be released].

Option 2

to be released from detention subject to reasonable conditions if the interests of justice permit.

- (2) Everyone who is detained, including every sentenced prisoner, has the right-
 - (a) to be informed, promptly and in a language that the detained or imprisoned person understands, of the reason for being detained;
 - (b) to choose and to consult with a legal practitioner, and to be informed of this right promptly and in a language that the detained person understands;
 - (c) to have a legal practitioner provided by the state if substantial injustice would otherwise result, and to be informed of this right promptly and in a language that the detained person understands;
 - (d) to challenge the lawfulness of the detention in person before a court of law and, if the detention is unlawful, to be released;
 - (e) to conditions of detention that are consistent with human dignity, including at least the provision of adequate accommodation, nutrition, reading material, and medical treatment at state expense; and
 - (f) to communicate with, and be visited by, that person's
 - (i) spouse or partner;
 - (ii) next of kin;
 - (iii) chosen religious counsellor; and
 - (iv) chosen medical practitioner.
- (3) Every accused has a right to a fair trial, which includes the right -
 - (a) to be informed of the charge with sufficient details to answer the charge;
 - (b) to have adequate time and facilities to prepare a defence;
 - (c) to a public trial that begins and concludes without unreasonable delay in an ordinary court of law;
 - (d) to be present when being tried;
 - (e) to choose and be represented by a legal practitioner, to have a legal practitioner assigned to the accused person at state expense if substantial injustice would otherwise result [if the interests of justice require it], and to be informed of both of these rights in a language that the accused person understands;
 - (f) to be presumed innocent, and to remain silent, and not to testify during the proceedings;
 - (g) to adduce and challenge evidence;
 - (h) not to be compelled to give self-incriminating evidence;
 - (i) to be tried in a language that the accused person understands or, if that is not practicable, to have the proceedings interpreted in that language;
 - (j) not to be convicted for any act or omission that was not an offence under either national or international law at the time it was committed or omitted;
 - (k) not to be tried for any offence in respect of an act or omission for which that person

representations against continued detention; and

- (h) the state must present written reasons to the court to justify the detention or continued detention of the detainee, and must give a copy of those reasons to the detainee at least two days before the court reviews the detention.
- (8) If a court releases a detainee, that person may not be detained again on the same grounds unless the state first shows a court good cause for re-detaining that person.

ENFORCEMENT OF RIGHTS

- 37. Anyone listed in this section has the right to apply to a competent court, alleging that a right declared in the Bill of Rights has been infringed or threatened, and the court may grant appropriate relief including a declaration of rights. The persons who may apply for relief are:
 - (a) anyone acting in their own interests;
 - (b) anyone acting on behalf of another person who cannot act in their own name;
 - (c) anyone acting as a member of, or in the interests of, a group or a class of persons;
 - (d) anyone acting in the public interest; and
 - (e) an association acting in the interests of its members.

APPLICATION

- 38. (1) The Bill of Rights applies to all law and binds the legislature, the executive, the judiciary, and all other organs of state and, where applicable, binds all natural and juristic persons.
 - (2) The Bill of Rights does not deny the existence of any other rights or freedoms that are recognised or conferred by common law, customary law, or legislation, to the extent that they are consistent with the Bill.

(3)

Option 1

Juristic persons are entitled to the rights in the Bill of Rights to the extent that the nature of the rights and of the juristic persons permit.

Option 2

Juristic persons are entitled only to the rights in the following sections:

(An example of a list:)

•	Section 13(b),(c) and (d)	Privacy
•	Section 14(2)	Freedom of religion, belief and opinion
•	Section 15	Freedom of expression
•	Section 17	Freedom of association
•	Section 21	Economic activity
•	Section 22	Labour relations
•	Section 23(b)	Environment
•	Section 24	Property
•	Section 28(2)	Education
•	Section 29(1)	Academic freedom
•	Section 31	Access to information
•	Section 32	Just administrative action
•	Section 33	Access to courts
•	Section 34(3)	Rights of accused persons

		오프 그렇게 그렇게 되었다. 아는 아는 이번 그 그 그들은 사람이 하는데 이번 하는데 하는데 하는데 없다.
•	Section 8	Equality
•	Section 9	Human dignity
• 15	Section 10	Life
	Section 11(3)	Freedom from torture and degrading treatment
•	Section 12	Freedom from slavery and servitude (excluding forced labour)
	Section 14	Freedom of religion, belief and opinion
	Section 22(1)	Fair labour practices
•	Section 22(2)and(3)	Right to form and join trade unions or employers' organisations
•	Section 27(1)(d)	Right of children to not be maltreated, neglected or abused
•	Section 27(1)(e)	Right of children to freedom from exploitative labour practices
	Section 27(1)(f)	Rights of children who are detained
	Section 33	Access to courts
•	Section 34(1)(a)and(b)	Right to remain silent, and to be informed of that right
	Section 34(1)(c)	Right not to be compelled to confess or make statements
•	Section 34(2)(d)	Right to challenge detention and be released
•	Section 34(3)and(4)	Fair trial
•	Section 35	Limitation of rights
•	Section 38	Application of the Bill of Rights

- (5) Despite subsection (4)(a), nothing in this section prevents the state trying and punishing anyone for an act or omission that, at the time it was committed, was criminal according to the general principles of international law.
- (6) Any superior court may enquire into the validity of
 - (a) a declaration of a state of emergency;
 - (b) any extension of a declaration of a state of emergency; or
 - (c) any legislation enacted, or other action taken, under a declaration of a state of emergency.
- (7) Whenever anyone is detained in consequence of a declaration of a state of emergency, the following conditions must be observed -
 - (a) an adult family member or friend of the detainee must be contacted as soon as reasonably possible, and told that the person has been detained;
 - (b) a notice must be published in the national Government Gazette within five days of the person being detained, stating the detainee's name and referring to the emergency measures under which that person has been detained;
 - (c) the detainee must be allowed to choose, and be visited at any reasonable time by, a medical practitioner;
 - (d) the detainee must be allowed to choose, and be visited at any reasonable time by, a legal representative;
 - (e) a court must review the detention as soon as reasonably possible, but no later than 10 days after the date the person was detained, and the court must release the detained unless the detention is necessary to restore peace and order;
 - (f) if the court does not release the detainee, that detainee may apply to the court for a further review after 10 days, and the court must again review the detention, and must release the detainee unless the detention is still necessary to restore peace and order;
 - (g) the detainee must be allowed to appear in person before the court considering the detention, to be represented by a legal practitioner at those hearings, and to make

CHAPTER 3

PARLIAMENT

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY OF REPUBLIC

- 40. (1) The legislative authority of the Republic is vested in Parliament, which may make laws for the Republic in terms of the Constitution.
 - (2) Parliament consists of the National Assembly [and a second house].

THE NATIONAL ASSEMBLY

COMPOSITION AND ELECTION OF NATIONAL ASSEMBLY

41. The National Assembly consists of [300 to 400] members, who are women and men elected in terms of an electoral system that is prescribed by national legislation, is based on a common voters roll and [results], in general, [in] proportional representation.

QUALIFICATIONS OF MEMBERS

- 42. Every citizen who is qualified to vote for the National Assembly is eligible to be a member of the Assembly, except -
 - (a) anyone holding an office of profit under the Republic, other than the Deputy President, Ministers and Deputy Ministers and any other office-bearers whose functions have been declared by national legislation to be compatible with the functions of a member of Parliament;
 - (b) members of [the second House,] a provincial legislature or a local government;
 - (c) unrehabilitated insolvents;
 - (d) anyone declared to be of unsound mind by a court of the Republic; or
 - (e) anyone who, after this section takes effect, has been convicted of an offence and sentenced to more than 12 months' imprisonment without the option of a fine, either in the Republic, or outside the Republic if the conduct constituting the offence would have been an offence in the Republic; but, no one may be regarded as having been sentenced until an appeal against the conviction or sentence has been determined, or until the time for an appeal has expired. A disqualification under this paragraph ends five years after the sentence has been completed.

VACANCIES

- 43. (1) A vacancy exists in the National Assembly when -
 - (a) a member ceases to be eligible;
 - (b) a member resigns or dies; or
 - (c) a member is absent from the Assembly without permission in circumstances for which the rules and orders of the Assembly prescribe loss of membership.
 - (2) Vacancies in the National Assembly must be filled without delay, in terms of national legislation.

OATHS OR AFFIRMATION BY MEMBERS

44. Before members of the National Assembly begin to perform their functions in the Assembly, they must swear or affirm faithfulness to the Republic and obedience to the Constitution, by solemn declaration in accordance with Schedule 3.

INTERPRETATION OF BILL OF RIGHTS

- 39. (1) When interpreting the Bill of Rights, every court -
 - (a) must promote the values that underlie an open and democratic society based on freedom and equality;
 - (b) must consider all applicable international law; and
 - (c) may consider foreign law.
 - (2) When interpreting any legislation, every court must prefer any reasonable interpretation of the legislation that is consistent with the Bill of Rights over any alternative interpretation of the legislation that is inconsistent with the Bill.
 - (3) When interpreting any legislation, and when developing the common law or customary law, every court must promote the spirit, purport, and objects of the Bill of Rights.

INTERNAL AUTONOMY

- 50. (1) The National Assembly may determine and control its internal arrangements and may make rules and orders concerning its business and proceedings, including rules and orders regulating the establishment, composition, powers and functions, procedures and duration of its committees.
 - (2) A committee of the National Assembly may summon anyone to appear before it to give evidence on oath or affirmation or to produce documents.

PARLIAMENTARY PRIVILEGE

- 51. (1) Members of the National Assembly have freedom of speech and debate in the Assembly and in its committees, subject to its rules and orders.
 - (2) Members of the National Assembly are not liable to civil or criminal proceedings, arrest, imprisonment or damages for -
 - (a) anything they have said in, produced before, or submitted to the Assembly or any of its committees; or
 - (b) anything revealed as a result of anything that they have said, produced or submitted.
 - (3) Other privileges and immunities of members of the National Assembly may be prescribed by national legislation.

BILLS

- 52. (Note 1: The procedure for the passage of Bills will be finalised when the matter of the Houses of Parliament is settled.
 - Note 2: Whether 20% of the members of the National Assembly must be allowed to have a Bill referred to the Constitutional Court to test its constitutionality before the Bill is passed, is still under discussion. There are two options: one is to include such a referral procedure and the other not to have such a procedure at all.)

CONSTITUTIONAL AMENDMENTS

53. The Constitution may be amended by a Bill passed by Parliament if it is adopted by at least two thirds of the members of [both Houses of] Parliament.

(Note: This clause requires further development in order to comply with the Constitutional Principles.)

ASSENT TO BILLS

- 54. (1) The President must, without delay, either assent to and sign a Bill passed by Parliament or, if the President has reservations about the constitutionality of the Bill, refer it back to Parliament for reconsideration.
 - (2) If the President refers a Bill back to Parliament the following procedure applies:
 - (a) Parliament must reconsider the Bill, taking into account the President's reservations.
 - (b) If Parliament agrees with the President's reservations it must either reject the Bill, or pass it fully accommodating the President's reservations, and the President must assent to and sign the Bill as then passed, without delay.
 - (c) If Parliament disagrees with the President's reservations and confirms the Bill, or passes it again but without fully accommodating the President's reservations, the President must, without delay, either assent to and sign the Bill or refer it to the Constitutional Court for a decision on its constitutionality.

SITTINGS AND RECESS PERIODS

- 45. (1) The first sitting of the National Assembly after an election must take place at a time and on a date determined by the President of the Constitutional Court, but not more than 10 days after the election result has been declared. The National Assembly may determine the time and duration of its other sittings and its recess periods.
 - (2) The President may summon the National Assembly to an extraordinary sitting at any time to conduct urgent business.
 - (3) The seat of the National Assembly is ... Sittings at other places are permitted only on the grounds of public interest, security, or convenience, and if provided for in the rules and orders of the Assembly.

ELECTIONS AND DURATION OF NATIONAL ASSEMBLY

- 46. (1) The National Assembly is elected for a term of five years.
 - (2) The National Assembly may be dissolved before the end of its term if it passes a vote of no confidence in the Cabinet.
 - (3) When the National Assembly is dissolved, or its term expires, the President, by proclamation and without delay, must call and set dates for an election, which must be held within 90 days of the date the Assembly was dissolved, or its term expired.
 - (4) The National Assembly remains competent to function from the time it is dissolved or its term expires until the day before the first day of polling for the next Assembly.

SPEAKER AND DEPUTY SPEAKER

- 47. (1) At the first sitting after its election, or when necessary to fill a vacancy, the National Assembly must elect a Speaker and a Deputy Speaker from among its members.
 - (2) The President of the Constitutional Court must preside over the election of the Speaker, or designate another judge to do so. The Speaker presides over the election of a Deputy Speaker.
 - (3) The procedure set out in Schedule 4 applies to the election of the Speaker and the Deputy Speaker.
 - (4) The National Assembly may remove the Speaker or Deputy Speaker from office by resolution. A majority of the members of the Assembly must be present when the resolution is adopted.

DECISIONS

- 48. (1) A majority of the members of the National Assembly must be present before a vote may be taken on a Bill, and one third of the members must be present before a vote may be taken on any other matter, except where the Constitution provides otherwise.
 - (2) All questions before the National Assembly must be decided by a majority of the votes cast, except where the Constitution provides otherwise.
 - (3) The presiding member of the National Assembly has no deliberative vote, but must cast a deciding vote whenever there is an equal number of votes on both sides of a question.

PRESIDENT'S RIGHTS IN NATIONAL ASSEMBLY

49. The President may attend, and may speak in the National Assembly, but may not vote.

CHAPTER 4 COUNCIL OF PROVINCES / SENATE

Option 1

COUNCIL OF PROVINCES

ESTABLISHMENT

57. There is a Council of Provinces to represent the provinces [and local overnment] at the national level.

COMPOSITION

- 58. (1) The Council of Provinces consists of delegates from the provincial legislatures [and local government].
 - (2) A provincial legislature elects from among its members and within 10 days of its election the number of delegates as provided in Schedule 4. Each party represented in a provincial legislature is entitled to a number of delegates to the Council of Provinces in accordance with the principle of proportional representation.
 - (3) A provincial legislature appoints no more than half of its delegates to the Council of Provinces to serve as permanent members of the Council.
 - (4) A delegate elected to the Council of Provinces may at any time be recalled by the party of which the delegate is a member.

POWERS AND FUNCTIONS

- 59. (1) The Council of Provinces represents provincial [and local] government at national legislative and executive level.
 - (2) The Council of Provinces monitors the establishment and co-ordinates the functioning of intergovernmental institutions.
 - (3) The Council of Provinces promotes co-operative governance among the various levels of government to ensure -
 - (a) mutual assistance and support;
 - (b) sharing of information;
 - (c) development and execution of joint policies;
 - (d) adherence to agreed procedures;
 - (e) maintenance of friendly relations; and
 - (f) harmony among the provinces and between the provinces and the national government.
 - (4) The Council of Provinces must be consulted and is entitled to comment on and submit proposals in regard to -
 - (a) the national budget;
 - (b) the budgets of national government departments; and
 - (c) the recommendations of the Financial and Fiscal Commission.
 - (5) The Council of Provinces participates in the national legislative process in the manner provided for in the Constitution.

(d) If the Constitutional Court decides that the Bill is constitutional the President must assent to and sign it, without delay. If the Court decides that the Bill is unconstitutional the President may not assent to or sign it.

PROMULGATION

55. A Bill assented to and signed by the President must be promulgated without delay, and becomes an Act of Parliament upon its promulgation.

SAFEKEEPING OF ACTS OF PARLIAMENT

56. The signed copy of an Act of Parliament is conclusive evidence of the provisions of that Act and must be entrusted for safekeeping to the Constitutional Court immediately after promulgation.

DECISIONS

- 64. (1) A majority of the members of the Council of Provinces must be present before a vote may be taken on a Bill, and one third of the members must be present before a vote may be taken on any other matter.
 - (2) All questions before the Council of Provinces are decided by a majority of the votes cast.

INTERNAL AUTONOMY

65. The Council of Provinces may make its own rules and orders.

Option 2

SENATE

COMPOSITION AND ELECTION OF SENATE

- 66. (1) The Senate consists of 90 members.
 - (2) Each provincial legislature elects, indirectly, 10 women and men as members of the Senate in accordance with the principle of proportional representation.

PURPOSE AND FUNCTIONS OF SENATE

- 67. (1) The purpose of the Senate is -
 - (a) to represent the province in national decision-making; and
 - (b) to function as a second House of Parliament.
 - (2) The Senate considers every Bill introduced in Parliament and passes or rejects it.
 - (3) A Bill passed by the National Assembly but rejected by the Senate must be referred to a joint committee consisting of members of both Houses and of all the parties represented in Parliament and willing to participate in the joint committee. The committee must consider and report on any proposed amendments to the Bill. The Bill must then be referred to the two Houses, which at separate sittings may pass the Bill with or without amendment.
 - (4) If one House passes the Bill as amended and the other House rejects that amended Bill, it must be referred to a joint sitting of the Houses at which it may be passed by a majority of the total number of members of both Houses.
 - (5) A Bill which has been rejected in a joint sitting of the Houses may not be reintroduced within twelve months of its rejection.
 - (6) Bills appropriating revenue or imposing taxes, other than Bills pertaining to matters contemplated in sections 148 to 153, must be considered by the Senate within thirty days after they have been passed by the National Assembly.
 - (7) Bills affecting the boundaries of provinces or the exercise or performance of the powers and functions of provinces must be passed by both Houses and, if it is a Bill other than a Bill referred to in subsection (8), affecting the boundaries or the exercise or performance of the powers or functions of a particular province or provinces only, it must also be approved by a majority of the senators of the province or provinces in question in the Senate.
 - (8) Subject to subsection (9), a Bill amending the Constitution must be adopted at a joint sitting of the National Assembly and the Senate by a majority of at least two thirds of the total number of members of both Houses.

PARTICIPATION IN THE NATIONAL LEGISLATIVE PROCESS

- 60. (1) The Council of Provinces may comment on and propose amendments to all Bills before the National Assembly and refer the comments or amendments for consideration to the Assembly.
 - (2) The Council of Provinces may initiate legislation and submit Bills to the National Assembly on any matter falling within the functional areas listed in Schedule 5.
 - (3) With respect to Bills before the National Assembly falling within the functional areas listed in Schedule 5 the Council of Provinces participates in the national legislative process as follows:
 - (a) The Council of Provinces considers the Bills, and may approve, propose amendments to or reject them.
 - (b) The National Assembly considers the amendments proposed by the Council of Provinces.
 - (c) If an amendment proposed by the Council of Provinces in terms of paragraph (a) is rejected by the National Assembly, or if a Bill is rejected by the Council, the Assembly refers the Bill to the Mediation Committee.
 - (d) The Mediation Committee must consider and take a decision on the Bill within four weeks of its referral.
 - (e) If the Mediation Committee agrees on the contents of the Bill it refers the Bill to the National Assembly for adoption.
 - (f) If the Mediation Committee does not agree on the contents of the Bill, the Bill lapses unless it is passed in the National Assembly by at least two thirds of its members. The Bill must then be sent to and dealt with by the President.
 - (4) Section 143 Option 3 subsection (3) does not apply to a Bill which is not approved by the Council of Provinces.
 - (5) The Council of Provinces participates in the amendment of the Constitution in the manner provided for in the Constitution.

MEDIATION COMMITTEE

- 61. (1) The Mediation Committee consists of an equal number of members of the Council of Provinces and the National Assembly.
 - (2) Decisions of the Mediation Committee are taken by a majority of its members.

CHAIRPERSON

62. The Council of Provinces elects a chairperson from among the permanent delegates to serve for a period of three years.

SITTINGS AND MEETINGS

- 63. (1) The Council of Provinces may determine the time and duration of its sittings and the dates of its meetings.
 - (2) The Chairperson may summon the Council of Provinces to an extraordinary meeting at any time to conduct urgent business.
 - (3) The seat of the Council of Provinces is the same as that of the National Assembly. Meetings at other places are permitted on the grounds of public interest, security or convenience, and in a manner provided for in the rules and orders of the Council.
 - [(4) The Chairperson must convene the Council of Provinces if requested to do so by the majority of the delegates of at least two provinces.]

RIGHTS OF MEMBERS OF NATIONAL AND PROVINCIAL EXECUTIVES IN SENATE,

- 73. (1) The President, Deputy Presidents, Ministers, Deputy Ministers, Premiers of provinces and members of Executive Councils of provinces may attend sittings of the Senate.
 - (2) The President, Deputy Presidents, Ministers and Deputy Ministers may speak in the Senate.
 - (3) The Premier of a province may speak in the Senate when business is conducted concerning the affairs of the province.
 - (4) Members of Executive Councils of provinces may speak in the Senate with the permission of the President or Deputy President of the Senate.
 - (5) Only members of the Senate may vote in the Senate.

RULES AND ORDERS

74. A provision similar to section 58 of the interim Constitution.

INTER-GOVERNMENTAL RELATIONS

- 75. (1) A Bill must be introduced in Parliament within six months of the Constitution taking effect to provide for the establishment of structures, mechanisms, processes and procedures aimed at establishing and promoting inter-governmental relations at both the legislative and executive levels of government and in respect of national, provincial and local government, including but not limited to the Inter-governmental Forum and Ministerial Forums, as well as an Advisory Committee on Inter-governmental Relations and a Commission on Provincial Government.
 - (2) Within six months of the Constitution taking effect, the Senate must establish a Senate Consultative Forum, which must establish mechanisms and structures to establish and promote liaison with and among provinces.
 - (3) Within one month of its first sitting, the Senate must elect in accordance with the principle of proportional representation Senators to serve on the Financial and Fiscal Commission.

- (9) No amendment of Chapter 9 is of any force or effect unless passed separately by both Houses by a majority of at least two thirds of all the members in each House; provided that the boundaries and legislative and executive competencies of a province may not be amended without the consent of the relevant provincial legislature.
- (10) All Bills contemplated in subsections (7) and (9) must first be introduced in the Senate.
- (11) The Senate must participate in the nomination or appointment of ambassadors, high commissioners and other heads of missions, judges of the Constitutional Court, the Supreme Court of Appeal, the High Court and the Land Claims Court and any other judicial bodies other than the courts referred to in section 95(e), the Public Protector, the Auditor-General and members of any commission or other similar bodies established under the Constitution.
- (12) The Senate, by resolution, must agree to the ratification of or accession to every international agreement.
- (13) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections (2), (3), (4) or (5) or any other provision of the Constitution, the Senate, at any time, may refer a Bill to the Constitutional Court to determine the constitutionality of that Bill.

QUALIFICATION FOR MEMBERSHIP OF SENATE

68. Every person who is eligible to be a member of the National Assembly and who ordinarily resides in the province which that person is to represent in the Senate, is eligible to be a member of the Senate.

OATH OR AFFIRMATION BY SENATORS

69. Before members of the Senate begin to perform their functions in the Senate, they must swear or affirm faithfulness to the Republic and obedience to the Constitution, by solemn declaration in accordance with Schedule 3.

SITTINGS

- 70. (1) The President of the Senate, or when the President is not available, the Deputy President of the Senate, after consultation with the Speaker of the National Assembly and the chief whips of all political parties represented in the Senate and in accordance with the rules and orders of the Senate, must determine the time and duration of sittings of the Senate.
 - (2) When a majority of Senators representing at least two provinces or one fifth of Senators representing at least five provinces requests it, the President or Deputy President of the Senate must convene a sitting of the Senate.
 - (3) The President may request the President of the Senate to summon members of the Senate to an extraordinary sitting in accordance with its rules and orders to conduct urgent business.
 - (4) The seat of the Senate is ... Sittings at other places are permitted only on the grounds of public interest, security or convenience, and if provided for in the rules and orders of the Senate.

PRESIDENT AND DEPUTY PRESIDENT OF SENATE

1. A provision similar to section 49 of the interim Constitution.

QUORUM IN SENATE

72. A provision similar to section 54 of the interim Constitution.

ELECTION OF PRESIDENT

- 79. (1) At its first sitting after its election, and whenever necessary to fill a vacancy, the National Assembly must elect a woman or a man from among its members to be the President.
 - (2) The President of the Constitutional Court must preside over the election of the President, or designate another judge to do so. The procedure set out in Schedule 4 applies to the election of the President.

ASSUMPTION OF OFFICE BY PRESIDENT

80. When elected President, a person ceases to be a member of the National Assembly, and, within five days, must assume the office of President by swearing or affirming faithfulness to the Republic and obedience to the Constitution, by solemn declaration in accordance with Schedule 3.

TERM OF OFFICE OF PRESIDENT

- 81. (1) The President's term of office begins on assuming office and ends upon a vacancy occurring or when the person next elected President assumes office.
 - (2) No person may hold office as President for more than two terms of office; but, when a person is elected to fill a vacancy in the office of President, the period between that election and the next election of a President is not regarded as a term of office.

VACANCIES

- 82. (1) A vacancy occurs in the office of President when -
 - (a) the President dies, or resigns from office by notice in writing to the Speaker; or
 - (b) the National Assembly, by resolution, removes the President from office.
 - (2) An election to fill a vacancy in the office of President must be held at a time and on a date determined by the President of the Constitutional Court, but not more than 30 days after the vacancy occurs.

ACTING PRESIDENT

- 83. (1) When the President is absent from the Republic or otherwise unable to perform the functions of the office of President, or during a vacancy in the office of President, an office-bearer in the order below acts as the President -
 - (a) the Deputy President;
 - (b) a Minister designated by the President;
 - (c) a Minister designated by the other members of the Cabinet;
 - (d) the Speaker;
 - (e) a member of the National Assembly elected by its members.
 - (2) An acting President has the responsibilities, powers and functions of the President.

REMOVAL OF PRESIDENT

- 84. (1) The National Assembly, by a resolution of at least two thirds of its members, may remove the President from office only on the grounds of -
 - (a) a serious violation of the Constitution or the law;
 - (b) serious misconduct; or
 - (c) inability to perform the functions of office.
 - (2) Anyone who has been removed from the office of President in terms of subsection (1)(a) or (b) may not receive any benefits of that office, and may not serve in any public office.

CHAPTER 5

THE NATIONAL EXECUTIVE

EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY OF THE REPUBLIC

- 76. (1) The executive authority of the Republic is vested in the President.
 - (2) The national executive consists of the President and the other members of the Cabinet, who must act in accordance with the Constitution and who may perform any act required to give effect to the Constitution.

THE PRESIDENT

- 77. (1) The President promotes the unity of the nation and that which will advance the Republic.
 - (2) The President is the Head of State. Head of the national executive and Commander-in-Chief of the defence force. The President must uphold, defend and respect the Constitution as the supreme law of the Republic, and is responsible for the observance of the Constitution by the national executive.

POWERS AND FUNCTIONS OF PRESIDENT

- (1) The President has the powers and functions entrusted to that office by the Constitution and any legislation.
 - (2) The President must exercise the powers and perform the functions entrusted to that office in consultation with the other members of the Cabinet, except where
 - (a) the Cabinet has determined that the President may act in consultation with a member or a committee of members; or
 - (b) the Constitution states or implies that the President may act alone.
 - (3) The President may act alone when -
 - (a) appointing and dismissing Cabinet members and Deputy Ministers and assigning powers and functions to them:
 - (b) convening Cabinet meetings:
 - (c) assenting to and signing Bills:
 - (d) referring a Bill back to Parliament for reconsideration of the Bill's constitutionality;
 - (e) referring a Bill to the Constitutional Court for a decision on the Bill's constitutionality;
 - (f) summoning the National Assembly to an extraordinary sitting to conduct urgent business:
 - (g) dissolving the National Assembly and calling an election after a vote of no confidence in the Cabinet has been passed by the Assembly:
 - (h) appointing commissions of enquiry;
 - (i) accrediting foreign diplomatic representatives:
 - (i) appointing ambassadors; and
 - (k) conferring honours.
 - (4) Decisions of the President taken in consultation with the other members or a member or committee of the Cabinet, must be in writing, signed by the President, and countersigned by another Cabinet member.

(Note: If the proposal for a Government of National Unity is accepted, this section will need to be amended.)

- (2) Members of the Cabinet and Deputy Ministers may not -
 - . (a) undertake any other paid work;
 - (b) act in any way that is inconsistent with their office or expose themselves to any situation involving the risk of a conflict between their official responsibilities and private interests; or
 - (c) use their position or any information entrusted to them to enrich themselves or improperly benefit any other person.

TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENT OF POWERS AND FUNCTIONS

91. The President may assign to a Cabinet member any powers and functions of another member who is absent from office or is unable to exercise those powers or perform those functions.

TRANSFER OF POWERS AND FUNCTIONS

- 92. The President by proclamation may transfer to a member of the Cabinet -
 - (a) the administration of any legislation entrusted to another member; or
 - (b) any power or function entrusted by legislation to another member.

VOTES OF NO CONFIDENCE

- 93. (1) If the National Assembly passes a vote of no confidence in the Cabinet, the President must either resign or dissolve the Assembly and call an election.
 - (2) If the National Assembly passes a vote of no confidence in the President alone, the President must resign.
 - (3) If the National Assembly passes a vote of no confidence in the Cabinet, excluding the President, the President must either resign or reconstitute the Cabinet.
 - (4) A majority of the members of the National Assembly must be present when a vote of no confidence is passed.

CABINET

85.

Option,1

- (1) The Cabinet consists of the President, a Deputy President and Ministers.
- (2) The President appoints the Deputy President and Ministers from among the members of the National Assembly, and may dismiss them.
- (3) The Deputy President and Ministers are responsible for the functions of the executive assigned to them by the President.

Option 2

- (1) The Cabinet consists of the President, a Prime Minister and Ministers.
- (2) The President appoints the Prime Minister and Ministers from among the members of the National Assembly, and may dismiss them.
- (3) The Prime Minister and Ministers are responsible for the functions of the executive assigned to them by the President.
- (4) The Prime Minister -
 - (a) must assist the President in the execution of the functions of government:
 - (b) is the leader of government business in Parliament;
 - (c) must co-ordinate the work of the Cabinet; and
 - (d) in the absence of the President, must preside at meetings of the Cabinet.

Option 3

A system of Government of National Unity based on the Interim Constitution.

DEPUTY MINISTERS

86. The President may appoint Deputy Ministers from among the members of the National Assembly to assist the members of the Cabinet, and may dismiss them.

CONTINUATION OF CABINET AFTER ELECTIONS

87. When an election of the National Assembly is held, the Cabinet, its members and the Deputy Ministers remain competent to function until the person elected President by the next Assembly assumes office.

OATH OF OFFICE

88. Before Ministers and Deputy Ministers begin to perform their functions, they must swear or affirm their faithfulness to the Republic and obedience to the Constitution, by solemn declaration in accordance with Schedule 3.

ACCOUNTABILITY OF MINISTERS AND CABINET

- 89. (1) The Deputy President and Ministers are individually accountable both to the President and Parliament, and all members of the Cabinet are collectively accountable to Parliament for the performance of the national government and its policies.
 - (2) In the performance of their functions. Ministers are bound by the policies of the Cabinet.

CONDUCT OF CABINET MEMBERS AND DEPUTY MINISTERS

90. (1) Members of the Cabinet and Deputy Ministers must act in accordance with a code of ethics prescribed by national legislation.

SUPREME COURT OF APPEAL

- 97. (1) The Supreme Court of Appeal, consisting of a Chief Justice, a Deputy Chief Justice and the number of judges of appeal determined by an Act of Parliament, may decide appeals in all matters, and is the highest court of appeal except in constitutional matters.
 - (2) The Supreme Court of Appeal has the inherent jurisdiction that vested in the Appellate Division of the Supreme Court before the Constitution took effect.
 - (3) The Supreme Court of Appeal has no jurisdiction other than that granted in the Constitution.

OTHER COURTS

- 98. (1) Other courts of appeal and the divisions of the High Court have -
 - (a) jurisdiction in all constitutional matters except in matters that only the Constitutional Court may decide; and,
 - (b) in all other matters, jurisdiction as determined by an Act of Parliament.
 - (2) The provincial and local divisions of the High Court have the inherent jurisdiction that vested in the provincial and local divisions of the Supreme Court before the Constitution took effect.
 - (3) All other courts have jurisdiction as determined by an Act of Parliament; but, no Act of Parliament may grant jurisdiction to enquire into or rule on the constitutionality of any legislation or any conduct of the President.

Powers of courts in constitutional matters

- 99. (1) In any constitutional matter, a court with jurisdiction -
 - (a) must declare invalid law or conduct that is inconsistent with the Constitution;
 - (b) may make any order that is just and equitable, including an order as to costs, an order that a declaration of invalidity is to operate retrospectively, and the extent of that retrospective operation; and
 - (c) may suspend a declaration of invalidity, for a specified period and on any conditions, to allow the competent authority to correct the defect.
 - (2) The Supreme Court of Appeal, a division of the High Court or a court deciding an appeal from the High Court may make a finding on the constitutionality of an Act of Parliament, a Provincial Act or any conduct of the President but may not declare the Act or conduct invalid; but, the court may grant a temporary interdict or other temporary relief to a party.
 - (3) Any person or organ of state with a sufficient interest may appeal or apply to the Constitutional Court to confirm or vary a finding of unconstitutionality by a court in terms of subsection (2).

APPOINTMENT OF JUDICIAL OFFICERS

100.

Option 1

- (1) Any appropriately qualified woman or man who is [a citizen and,] a fit and proper person may be appointed as a judicial officer.
- (2) The President, after consulting the Judicial Service Commission, appoints the President and Deputy President of the Constitutional Court and the Chief Justice and Deputy Chief Justice.
- (3) The other judges of the Constitutional Court are appointed by the President, after consulting the President of the Constitutional Court, in accordance with the following procedure:
 - (a) The Judicial Service Commission must prepare a list of nominees with three names

CHAPTER 6

COURTS AND ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE

JUDICIAL AUTHORITY

- 94. (1) The judicial authority of the Republic is vested in the courts established in terms of the Constitution or an Act of Parliament.
 - (2) The courts are independent, and subject only to the Constitution and the law, which they must apply impartially and without fear, favour or prejudice.
 - (3) No person or organ of state may interfere with the functioning of the courts.
 - (4) Organs of state, through legislative and other measures, must assist and protect the courts, to ensure the independence, impartiality, dignity and effectiveness of the courts.
 - (5) A decision of a court binds all the persons and organs of state to which the decision applies.

JUDICIAL SYSTEM

- 95. The courts of the Republic are:
 - (a) The Constitutional Court.
 - (b) The Supreme Court of Appeal.
 - (c) Any courts of appeal established by an Act of Parliament.
 - (d) The provincial and local divisions of the High Court and other courts of similar status.
 - (e) The Magistrates' Courts and other courts of similar status.
 - (f) Any other courts established in terms of an Act of Parliament.

CONSTITUTIONAL COURT

- 96. (1) The Constitutional Court, consisting of a President, a Deputy President and nine other judges, is the highest court in constitutional matters, and its decisions bind all other courts.
 - 2) The Constitutional Court makes the final decision whether a matter is a constitutional matter.
 - (3) Only the Constitutional Court may -
 - (a) decide disputes in constitutional matters between national, national and provincial, and provincial organs of state;
 - (b) declare unconstitutional an Act of Parliament, a Provincial Act, and any conduct of the President; and
 - (c) decide on the constitutionality of any parliamentary or provincial Bill, but may do so only when the Bill is referred to it in terms of the Constitution.
 - 14 National legislation and rules made by the Constitutional Court -
 - (a) may determine the procedure of the Constitutional Court; and
 - (b) must allow any person to bring a matter directly to the Constitutional Court when it is in the interests of justice, and with leave of that Court.
 - (5) The Constitutional Court has no jurisdiction other than that granted in the Constitution.

- (8) The President must appoint the Deputy Chief Justice and all other judges on the advice of the Judicial Service Commission.
- (9) The appointment of other judicial officers must be made by an independent body established by an Act of Parliament which must ensure that the appointment, promotion, transfer or dismissal of, or disciplinary steps against such judicial officers, take place without favour or prejudice, and that the applicable legislation and administrative directives are applied uniformly and properly, and that no victimisation or improper influencing of these judicial officers occurs.

ACTING JUDGES

- 101. (1) The President may appoint an acting judge to the Constitutional Court if there is a vacancy or if a judge is absent. The appointment must be made on the recommendation of the Cabinet member responsible for the administration of justice acting in consultation with the President of the Constitutional Court and the Chief Justice.
 - (2) The appointment of an acting Constitutional Court judge may be for any period until the vacancy is filled or until the absent judge returns to the Court. A person may be appointed as an acting judge more than once but may not serve for a period of more than six months. A person continues as an acting judge to complete any unfinished case after the expiry of the period of appointment.
 - (3) The Cabinet member responsible for the administration of justice must appoint acting judges to other courts [on the advice of/after consultation with] the senior judge of the court on which the acting judge will serve.

TENURE AND REMUNERATION

- 102. (1) Constitutional Court judges are appointed for non-renewable terms of up to nine years.
 - (2) Other judges hold office until they are discharged from active service in terms of an Act of Parliament.
 - (3) The salaries, allowances and benefits of judges may not be reduced.

REMOVAL

- 103. (1) A judge may be removed from office only if -
 - (a) the Judicial Service Commission finds that the judge suffers from an incapacity, is [grossly] incompetent, or is guilty of gross misconduct; and
 - (b) the National Assembly [and the second House, at a joint sitting,] adopt a resolution calling for that judge to be removed, which is supported by at least two thirds of the total number of members [of both Houses].
 - (2) The President must remove a judge from office upon adoption of a resolution calling for that judge to be removed.
 - (3) The President, on the advice of the Judicial Service Commission, may suspend a judge who is the subject of a procedure in terms of subsection(1).

JUDICIAL SERVICE COMMISSION

- 104. (1) There is a Judicial Service Commission, consisting of -
 - (a) the Chief Justice, who presides at meetings of the Commission;
 - (b) the President of the Constitutional Court;
 - (c) one Judge President designated by the Judges President;

- more than the number of appointments to be made, and submit the list to the President.
- (b) The President may make appointments from the list, and must advise the Judicial Service Commission, with reasons, if any of the nominees are unacceptable and any appointment remains to be made.
- (c) The Judicial Service Commission must supplement the list with further nominees and the President must make the remaining appointments from the supplemented list.
- (4) At all times, at least four members of the Constitutional Court must be persons who were judges at the time they were appointed to the Constitutional Court.
- (5) The President must appoint the judges of all other courts on the advice of the Judicial Service Commission.
- (6) Other judicial officers must be appointed in terms of an Act of Parliament.
- (7) Before judicial officers begin to perform their functions, they must take an oath or affirm, in accordance with Schedule 3, that they will uphold and protect the Constitution.

Option 2

- (1) Any appropriately qualified woman or man who is a citizen and a fit and proper person may be appointed as a judicial officer.
- (2) A person appointed as the President, the Deputy President or a judge of the Constitutional Court must be -
 - (a) a judge: or
 - (b) qualified to be admitted as an advocate or attorney and, after qualifying, must have practised as an advocate or an attorney or lectured in law at a university for at least 10 years; or
 - constitutional law relevant to the application of the Constitution and the law of the Republic.
- 3 A person appointed as the Chief Justice, the Deputy Chief Justice or a judge must be qualified to be admitted as an advocate or attorney and, after qualifying, must have practised as an advocate or an attorney or lectured in law at a university for at least 10 years.
- (4) The President of the Constitutional Court and the Chief Justice must be appointed by the President on the advice of the Judicial Service Commission.
- (5) The Deputy President of the Constitutional Court and the other judges of the Constitutional Court must be appointed after advice by the Judicial Service Commission and in consultation with the leaders of all political parties in Parliament who wish to participate.
- 16 In the event of no consensus having been reached in terms of subsection (5), the judges must be appointed together by a majority of at least 75% of the members of the National Assembly [and the second House in a joint sitting]
- At all times, at least four members of the Constitutional Court must be persons who were judges at the time they were appointed and no more than three may have qualified for the Court in terms of subsection (2)(c).

STATE INSTITUTIONS SUPPORTING CONSTITUTIONAL DEMOCRACY

ESTABLISHMENT AND GOVERNING PRINCIPLES

- 106. (1) The following state institutions strengthen constitutional democracy in the Republic:
 - (a) The Public Protector.
 - (b) The Human Rights Commission.
 - (c) The Commission for Gender Equality.
 - (d) The Auditor-General.
 - (e) The Electoral Commission.
 - (2) These institutions are independent, and subject only to the Constitution and the law, and they must be impartial and must exercise their powers and perform their functions without fear, favour or prejudice.
 - (3) Organs of state, through legislative and other measures, must assist and protect these institutions to ensure the independence, impartiality, dignity and effectiveness of these institutions.
 - (4) No person and no organ of state may interfere with the functioning of these institutions.
 - (5) These institutions are accountable to Parliament, and must report on their activities to Parliament at least once a year.

PUBLIC PROTECTOR

- 107. (1) The Public Protector has the following powers, as regulated by national legislation -
 - (a) to investigate any conduct in state affairs or the public administration at any level of government that is alleged or suspected to be improper or to result in any impropriety or prejudice;
 - (b) to report on that conduct; and
 - (c) to take appropriate remedial action.
 - (2) The Public Protector has the additional powers and functions prescribed by national legislation.
 - (3) The Public Protector may not investigate court decisions.
 - (4) The Public Protector must be accessible to all persons and communities.
 - (5) Any report issued by the Public Protector must be open to the public, unless exceptional circumstances to be prescribed by national legislation require that a report be kept confidential.

TENURE

108. The Public Protector is appointed for a period of seven years.

- d the Cabinet member responsible for the administration of justice, or that member's nominee:
- (e) two practising advocates designated by the advocates' profession:
- (f) two practising attorneys designated by the attorneys' profession:
- (g) one professor of law designated by the deans of the law faculties at South African universities:
- [(h) four senators designated together by the second House by resolution adopted by at least two thirds of its members:]
- (i) four persons, two of whom are practising attorneys or advocates, designated by the President; and
- (i) when considering matters specifically relating to a division of the High Court, the Judge President of that division and the Premier of the province concerned.
- (2) The Judicial Service Commission has the powers and functions assigned to it in the Constitution and national legislation.
- (3) The Judicial Service Commission may advise the national and provincial governments on any matters relating to the judiciary and the administration of justice [.but when it does so, it must sit without the four senators referred to in subsection (1)(h)].
- (4) The Commission may determine its own procedure: but, decisions of the Commission must be taken by a majority of its members.

OTHER MATTERS CONCERNING COURTS

105. Any matter concerning any court or the administration of justice, that is not dealt with in the Constitution, including training programmes for judicial officers, procedures for dealing with complaints about judicial officers, and the participation of people other than judicial officers in decisions, may be provided for by national legislation.

(Note 1: The following provision will be included in the transitional provisions:

"The terms of all but the five oldest Constitutional Court judges in office when the Constitution takes effect are extended for four years."

Note 2: The issue of the appointment, structure and functions of the prosecutorial authority, or Attorney(s)-General, is still under discussion, including the question whether or not this office should be constitutionalised.)

ELECTORAL COMMISSION

FUNCTIONS OF ELECTORAL COMMISSION

- 113. (1) The Electoral Commission must manage elections of national, provincial and local legislative bodies and ensure that they are free and fair.
 - (2) The Electoral Commission has the additional powers and functions prescribed by national legislation.

COMPOSITION OF ELECTORAL COMMISSION

114. The Electoral Commission must be composed of at least three persons. The number of members and their terms of office must be prescribed by national legislation.

GENERAL PROVISIONS

APPOINTMENTS

- 115. (1) The Public Protector and members of any Commission established by this Chapter must be women or men who are South African citizens, are fit and proper persons to hold the particular office, and who comply with any other requirements prescribed by national legislation.
 - (2) The Auditor-General must be a woman or a man who is a South African citizen, is a fit and proper person to hold that office, and who does not hold office in any political party or organisation. Specialised knowledge of, or experience in, auditing, state finances, and public administration must be given due regard in appointing the Auditor-General.
 - (3) Any appointment under this Chapter must be made by the President acting on the recommendation of Parliament.
 - (4) Parliament must recommend a person -
 - (a) nominated by a committee of Parliament in terms of the rules and orders; and
 - (b) approved by Parliament by a resolution adopted by at least two thirds of the members.

REMOVAL FROM OFFICE

- 116. (1) The Public Protector, the Auditor-General or a member of a Commission established by this Chapter may be removed from office only on -
 - (a) the grounds of misbehaviour, incapacity or incompetence;
 - (b) a finding to that effect by a committee of Parliament; and
 - (c) the adoption by Parliament of a resolution, calling for that person's removal from office, and supported by at least two thirds of the members.
 - (2) The President must remove a person from office upon adoption of a resolution calling for that person's removal.
 - (3) The President may suspend a person from office when Parliament is considering removing that person from office.

HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION

FUNCTIONS OF HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION

- 109. (1) The Human Rights Commission must promote -
 - (a) respect for human rights:
 - (b) the development, protection and attainment of human rights; and
 - (c) the development of a culture of human rights in the Republic.
 - (2) The Human Rights Commission has the power, as regulated by national legislation, necessary to perform its functions, including the power to monitor, to investigate and to report on the observance of human rights, to take steps to secure appropriate redress where human rights have been violated, to carry out research, and to educate.
 - (3) The Human Rights Commission has the additional powers and functions prescribed by national legislation.

COMMISSION FOR GENDER EQUALITY

FUNCTIONS OF COMMISSION FOR GENDER EQUALITY

- 110. (1) The Commission for Gender Equality must promote respect for gender equality and the development, protection and attainment of gender equality.
 - (2) The Commission for Gender Equality has the power, as regulated by national legislation, necessary to perform its functions, including the power to monitor, to investigate, to research, to educate, to lobby, to advise and to report on issues concerning gender equality.
 - (3) The Commission for Gender Equality has the additional powers and functions prescribed by national legislation.

AUDITOR-GENERAL

FUNCTIONS OF AUDITOR-GENERAL

- 111. (1) The Auditor-General must audit and report on -
 - (a) the accounts and financial statements of all national and provincial state departments and administrations:
 - (b) the accounts and financial statements of all local governments; and
 - (c) any other accounts and financial statements that are required by national legislation to be audited by the Auditor-General.
 - (2) The Auditor-General may also audit and report on the accounts and financial statements of any institution funded from public money, as may be regulated by legislation.
 - (3) The Auditor-General must submit audit reports to every legislature and other authority that has a direct interest in the audit, and to any other authority prescribed by national legislation. All reports must be made public.

TENURE

112. The Auditor-General is appointed for a non-renewable term of not fewer than five years and not more than 10 years.

- (5) In each province the people must be represented by a body elected by general, free, equal and secret ballot.
- (6) The provisions of the Constitution with regard to majority government, multi-party democracy, regular elections, the franchise, a common voters roll, proportional or other representation, and the participation of minority parties in the legislative process in a manner consistent with democracy, apply to all provinces equally and undiminished.
- (7) Provinces must adhere to the separation of powers between the legislature and the executive in the province, with appropriate checks and balances to ensure accountability, responsiveness and openness.
- (8) Provinces must maintain relations of good neighbourliness with all levels of government of the Republic. They must co-operate with, assist and support the national, other provincial and the local levels of the state.)

PROVINCIAL LEGISLATURES

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY OF PROVINCES

119. The legislative authority of a province is vested in its provincial legislature.

COMPOSITION AND ELECTION OF PROVINCIAL LEGISLATURES

- 120. (1) A provincial legislature consists of the women and men elected as members in terms of an electoral system that is prescribed by national legislation, is based on a common voters roll, and [results], in general, [in] proportional representation.
 - (2) The number of members in a provincial legislature must be determined in terms of national legislation and must be no fewer than 30 and no more than 100/80.

QUALIFICATIONS OF MEMBERS

- 121. Every citizen who is qualified to vote for the National Assembly is eligible to be a member of a provincial legislature, except -
 - (a) anyone holding an office of profit under the Republic, other than the Premier and other members of the Executive Council of a province, and any other office-bearers whose functions have been declared by national legislation to be compatible with the functions of a member of a provincial legislature;
 - (b) members of the National Assembly, [the second House] or a local government;
 - (c) unrehabilitated insolvents;
 - (d) anyone declared to be of unsound mind by a court of the Republic; or
 - (e) anyone who, after this section takes effect, has been convicted of an offence and sentenced to more than 12 months' imprisonment without the option of a fine, either in the Republic, or outside the Republic if the conduct constituting the offence would have been an offence in the Republic; but, no one may be regarded as having been sentenced until an appeal against the conviction or sentence has been determined, or until the time for an appeal has expired. A disqualification under this paragraph ends five years after the sentence has been completed.

PROVINCES

PROVINCES

- 117. (1) The Republic has the following provinces:
 - (a) Eastern Cape.
 - (b) Free State.
 - (c) Gauteng.
 - (d) KwaZulu-Natal.
 - (e) Mpumalanga.
 - (f) Northern Cape.
 - (g) Northern Province.
 - (h) North-West Province.
 - (i) Western Cape.
 - (2) The territories of the provinces are described in Schedule 1.

(Note: The possibility of including constitutional provisions for the right to self-determination, in terms of Constitutional Principle XXXIV, of any community sharing a common cultural and language heritage is still being discussed.)

APPLICATION OF THIS CHAPTER

118.

Option 1

The provisions of this Chapter apply to all provinces except to the extent that they are modified by a provincial constitution adopted and certified in terms of this Constitution.

Option 2

No provision.

(Note: This Chapter might include a provision along the following lines:

PROVINCIAL HOMOGENEITY

- (1) Provinces are integral parts of the Republic and inseparable from the Republic which is one sovereign state.
- (2) Provincial governments must promote national unity and must pursue peace in their provinces. They must commit themselves to the well-being of all the people of the province, and co-operate in a spirit of ubuntu to reconstruct and develop their provinces.
- (3) Provinces are founded on respect for and the observation of human rights. They must promote the achievement of equality between men and women and people of all races.
- (4) Provinces must comply with the principles of constitutional democracy and the rule of law within the meaning of the Constitution to preserve homogeneity among the provinces.

DECISIONS

- 127. (1) A majority of the members of a provincial legislature must be present before a vote may be taken on a Bill and one third of the members must be present before a vote may be taken on any other matter, except where the Constitution provides otherwise.
 - (2) All questions before a provincial legislature must be decided by a majority of the votes cast, except where the Constitution provides otherwise.
 - (3) The presiding member of a provincial legislature has no deliberative vote, but must cast a deciding vote if there is an equal number of votes on both sides of a question.

INTERNAL AUTONOMY

- 128. (1) A provincial legislature may determine and control its internal arrangements and may make rules and orders concerning its business and proceedings, including rules and orders regulating the establishment, composition, powers and functions, procedures and duration of its committees.
 - (2) A committee of a provincial legislature may summon anyone to appear before it to give evidence under oath or affirmation or to produce documents.

PRIVILEGES AND IMMUNITIES OF MEMBERS

- 129. (1) Members of a provincial legislature have freedom of speech and debate in the provincial legislature and in its committees, subject to its rules and orders.
 - (2) Members of provincial legislatures are not liable to civil or criminal proceedings, arrest, imprisonment or damages for -
 - (a) anything they have said in, produced before, or submitted to their provincial legislature or any of its committees; or
 - (b) anything revealed as a result of anything that they have said, produced or submitted.
 - (3) Other privileges and immunities of members of the provincial legislatures may be prescribed by legislation.

ASSENT TO BILLS

- 130. (1) The Premier of a province must, without delay, either assent to and sign a Bill passed by the provincial legislature or, if the Premier has reservations about the constitutionality of the Bill, refer it back to the legislature for reconsideration.
 - (2) If the Premier refers a Bill back to the provincial legislature the following procedure applies:
 - (a) The legislature must reconsider the Bill, taking into account the Premier's reservations.
 - (b) If the legislature agrees with the Premier's reservations it must either reject the Bill, or pass it fully accommodating the Premier's reservations, and the Premier must assent to and sign the Bill as then passed without delay.
 - (c) If the legislature disagrees with the Premier's reservations and confirms the Bill, or passes it again but without fully accommodating the Premier's reservations, the Premier must, without delay, either assent to and sign the Bill or refer it to the Constitutional Court for a decision on its constitutionality.
 - (d) If the Constitutional Court decides that the Bill is constitutional the Premier must assent to and sign it, without delay. If the Court decides that the Bill is unconstitutional the Premier may not assent to or sign it.

VACANCIES

- 122. (1) A vacancy exists in a provincial legislature when -
 - (a) a member ceases to be eligible;
 - (b) a member resigns or dies; or
 - (c) a member is absent from the provincial legislature without permission in circumstances for which the rules and orders of the provincial legislature prescribe loss of membership.
 - (2) Vacancies in the provincial legislatures must be filled without delay, in terms of national legislation.

OATH OR AFFIRMATION BY MEMBERS

123. Before members of a provincial legislature begin to perform their functions in the legislature, they must swear or affirm their faithfulness to the Republic and obedience to the Constitution, by solemn declaration in accordance with Schedule 3.

SITTINGS AND RECESS PERIODS

- 124. (1) The first sitting of a provincial legislature after an election must take place at a time and on a date determined by a judge designated by the President of the Constitutional Court, but not more than 10 days after the election result has been declared. A provincial legislature may determine the time and duration of its other sittings and its recess periods.
 - (2) The Premier of a province may summon the provincial legislature to an extraordinary sitting at any time to conduct urgent business.
 - (3) A provincial legislature may determine where it ordinarily will sit.

ELECTIONS AND DURATION OF PROVINCIAL LEGISLATURES

- 125. (1) A provincial legislature is elected for a term of five years.
 - (2) A provincial legislature may be dissolved before the end of its term if it passes a vote of no confidence in the Executive Council.
 - (3) When a provincial legislature is dissolved, or its term expires, [the President/Premier of the province], by proclamation and without delay, must call and set dates for an election, which must be held within 90 days of the date the legislature was dissolved, or its term expired.
 - (4) A provincial legislature remains competent to function from the time it is dissolved or its term expires until the day before the first day of polling for the next provincial legislature.

SPEAKERS

- 126. (1) At the first sitting after its election, and when necessary to fill a vacancy, a provincial legislature must elect a Speaker from among its members.
 - (2) A judge designated by the President of the Constitutional Court must preside over the election of a Speaker.
 - (3) The procedure set out in Schedule 4 applies to the election of a Speaker.
 - (4) A provincial legislature may remove its Speaker from office by resolution. A majority of the members of the legislature must be present when the resolution is adopted.

ASSUMPTION OF OFFICE BY PREMIERS

136. A Premier-elect assumes the office of Premier within five days of being elected, by swearing or affirming faithfulness to the Republic and obedience to the Constitution, by solemn declaration in accordance with Schedule 3.

TERM OF OFFICE OF PREMIERS

- 137. (1) A Premier's term of office begins when the Premier assumes office and ends upon a vacancy occurring or when the person next elected Premier assumes office.
 - (2) No person may hold office as Premier for more than two terms of office; but, when a person is elected to fill a vacancy in the office of Premier, the period between that election and the next election of a Premier will not be regarded as a term of office.

VACANCIES

- 138. (1) A vacancy occurs in the office of Premier when the Premier dies, or resigns from office by notice in writing to the Speaker of the provincial legislature.
 - (2) An election to fill a vacancy in the office of Premier must be held at a time and on a date determined by the President of the Constitutional Court, but not later than 30 days after the vacancy occurs.

ACTING PREMIERS

- 139. (1) When the Premier is absent or otherwise unable to perform the functions of the office of Premier, or during a vacancy in the office of Premier, an office-bearer in the order below acts as the Premier -
 - (a) a member of the Executive Council designated by the Premier;
 - (b) a member of the Executive Council designated by the other members of the Executive Council;
 - (c) the Speaker of the provincial legislature;
 - (d) a member of the provincial legislature elected by its members.
 - (2) An acting Premier has the responsibilities, powers and functions of the Premier.

EXECUTIVE COUNCILS

140. The Executive Council of a province consists of the Premier and no fewer than five and no more than ten members appointed by the Premier.

CONTINUATION OF EXECUTIVE COUNCILS AFTER ELECTIONS

141. When an election of a provincial legislature is held, the Executive Council and its members remain competent to function until the person elected Premier by the next legislature assumes office.

OATH OR SOLEMN AFFIRMATION

142. Before members of the Executive Council of a province begin to perform their functions, they must swear or affirm their faithfulness to the Republic and obedience to the Constitution, by solemn declaration in accordance with Schedule 3.

ACCOUNTABILITY OF MEMBERS OF EXECUTIVE COUNCILS

- 143. (1) The members of the Executive Council of a province are individually accountable both to the Premier and the provincial legislature, and members of the Council are collectively accountable to the legislature for the performance of the functions of the provincial government and its policies.
 - (2) In the performance of their functions, members of the Executive Council are bound by the policies of the Council.

PROMULGATION

- 131. (1) A Bill assented to and signed by the Premier of a province must be promulgated without delay, and becomes an Act of the province upon its promulgation.
 - (2) Provincial Acts must be published in the national Government Gazette.

SAFEKEEPING OF PROVINCIAL ACTS

132. The signed copy of an Act of a provincial legislature is conclusive evidence of the provisions of that Act and must be entrusted for safekeeping to the Constitutional Court immediately after promulgation.

PROVINCIAL EXECUTIVES

EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY OF PROVINCES

- 133. (1) The executive authority of a province is vested in the Premier of the province.
 - (2) The provincial executive consists of the Premier and the other members of the Executive Council, who must act in accordance with the Constitution.

POWERS AND FUNCTIONS OF PREMIERS

- 134. (1) The Premier of a province has the powers and functions entrusted to that office by the Constitution and any legislation.
 - (2) The Premier must exercise the powers and perform the functions entrusted to that office in consultation with the other members of the Executive Council, except where -
 - (a) the Executive Council has determined that the Premier may act in consultation with a member or a committee of members; or
 - (b) the Constitution states or implies that the Premier may act alone.
 - (3) The Premier may act alone when -
 - (a) appointing and dismissing Executive Council members and assigning powers and functions to them:
 - (b) convening Executive Council meetings;
 - (c) assenting to and signing Bills;
 - (d) referring a Bill to the legislature for reconsideration of the Bill's constitutionality;
 - (e) referring a Bill to the Constitutional Court for a decision on the Bill's constitutionality;
 - (f) summoning the provincial legislature to an extraordinary sitting to conduct urgent business; and
 - [(g) dissolving the provincial legislature and calling an election after a vote of no confidence in the Executive Council has been passed by the legislature.]
 - (4) Decisions of the Premier in consultation with the other members or a member or committee of the Executive Council, must be in writing, signed by the Premier, and countersigned by another member.

ELECTION OF PREMIERS

- 135. (1) At its first sitting after its election, and whenever necessary to fill a vacancy, a provincial legislature must elect a woman or a man from among its members to be the Premier of the province.
 - (2) A judge designated by the President of the Constitutional Court must preside over the election of the Premier. The procedure set out in Schedule 4 applies to the election of the Premier.

- (2) Legislation referred to in subsection (1) may be enacted only after the provincial governments have been consulted and any recommendations of the Financial and Fiscal Commission have been considered, and with due regard to -
 - (a) the national interest;
 - (b) any provisions that must be made in respect of the national debt;
 - (c) the needs and interests of the national government based on objective criteria; and
 - (d) fiscal capacity, fiscal performance, efficiency of utilisation of revenue, needs and economic disparities within and among provinces, developmental needs, administrative responsibilities and other interests based on objective criteria.
- (3) Additional revenue raised by provinces may not be deducted from their equitable share of revenue collected nationally, or from other allocations made to them out of national revenue. Equally, there is no obligation on the national government to compensate provinces that do not raise revenue commensurate with their fiscal capacity and tax base.
- (4) A province's equitable share of revenue collected nationally must be transferred to the province expeditiously and without deduction except in the special circumstances provided for in section 188.

PROVINCIAL TAXES

- 150. (1) Provincial legislatures may raise taxes, levies and duties, and surcharges on taxes, but may not raise -
 - (a) income tax, value-added tax or other sales tax, levies on the sale of fuel, customs and excise duties or any levies or surcharges on any taxes and duties collected nationally in terms of national legislation; or
 - (b) taxes, levies or surcharges that may detrimentally affect national economic policies, interprovincial commerce or the national mobility of goods, services, capital or labour.
 - (2) The authority to raise taxes, levies, duties and surcharges must be regulated by national legislation which may be enacted only after any recommendations of the Financial and Fiscal Commission have been considered.

PROVINCIAL LOANS AND GUARANTEES

- 151. (1) A province may raise loans for capital expenditure within a framework of reasonable norms and conditions provided for in national legislation.
 - (2) A province may raise loans for current expenditure only when necessary for bridging purposes during a fiscal year, and provided these loans are redeemed within 12 months and any reasonable conditions prescribed by national legislation are complied with.
 - (3) National legislation referred to in subsections (1) and (2) may be enacted only after any recommendations of the Financial and Fiscal Commission have been considered.
 - (4) A province may not guarantee a loan unless the Financial and Fiscal Commission has verified the need for, and recommended, the guarantee.

ALLOCATIONS BY NATIONAL GOVERNMENT

- 152. The allocation of revenue by the national government -
 - (a) to a provincial or local government may be made only in terms of an appropriation by an Act of Parliament; and
 - (b) to a local government must be made, ordinarily, through the provincial government of the province in which the local government is located.

CONDUCT OF MEMBERS OF EXECUTIVE COUNCILS

- 144. (1) Members of the Executive Council of a province must act in accordance with a code of ethics prescribed by national legislation.
 - (2) Members of the Executive Council of a province may not -
 - (a) undertake any other paid work;
 - (b) act in any way that is inconsistent with their office or expose themselves to any situation involving the risk of a conflict between their official responsibilities and private interests; or
 - (c) use their position or any information entrusted to them to enrich themselves or improperly benefit any other person.

TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENT OF POWERS AND FUNCTIONS

145. The Premier may assign to a member of the Executive Council any powers and functions of another member who is absent from office or is unable to exercise those powers or perform those functions.

TRANSFER OF POWERS AND FUNCTIONS

- 146. The Premier by proclamation may transfer to a member of the Executive Council -
 - (a) the administration of any legislation entrusted to another member; or
 - (b) any power or function entrusted by legislation to another member.

VOTES OF NO CONFIDENCE

- 147. (1) If the provincial legislature passes a vote of no confidence in the Executive Council, the Premier must either resign or dissolve the legislature and call an election.
 - (2) If the provincial legislature passes a vote of no confidence in the Premier alone, the Premier must resign.
 - (3) If the provincial legislature passes a vote of no confidence in the Executive Council, excluding the Premier, the Premier must either resign or reconstitute the Council.
 - (4) A majority of the members of the legislature must be present when a vote of no confidence is passed.

PROVINCIAL FINANCIAL AND FISCAL MATTERS

SOURCES OF PROVINCIAL FUNDING

- 148. A province -
 - (a) is entitled to an equitable share of revenue collected nationally to enable it to provide services at affordable standards, and to exercise its powers and to perform its functions:
 - (b) may receive other allocations from national revenue, either conditionally or unconditionally; and
 - (c) may raise additional revenue from taxes and loans as provided in sections 150 and 151.

ALLOCATIONS TO PROVINCES FROM NATIONAL REVENUE

- 149. (1) National legislation must provide for the determination of -
 - (a) the provinces' equitable share of revenue collected nationally; and
 - (b) any other allocations to provinces from national revenue and the conditions on which those allocations may be made.

PROVINCIAL AND NATIONAL LEGISLATIVE AND EXECUTIVE COMPETENCES

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY OF THE REPUBLIC

155.

Option 1

The legislative authority of the Republic is vested in Parliament, which may make laws in terms of the Constitution on any matter, including matters falling within the functional areas listed in Schedule 5.

Option 2

- (1) The legislative authority of the Republic is vested in Parliament which may make laws in terms of the Constitution.
- (2) Parliament may make laws on matters which fall within a functional area listed in Schedule 5 only if such laws apply uniformly in all parts of the Republic and are necessary for -
 - (a) the establishment of essential national or minimum standards required for a service to be rendered; or
 - (b) the prevention of unreasonable action by a province which is materially and unjustifiably prejudicial to economic unity, or to the health, environmental or security interests of another province or the country as a whole.

LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY OF PROVINCES

- 156. (1) The legislative authority of a province is vested in its provincial legislature which is competent to make laws in and for the province in terms of the Constitution.
 - (2) A provincial legislature may make laws on any matter which falls within a functional area specified in Schedule 5.

FRAMEWORK LEGISLATION

157.

Option 1

No provision for framework legislation.

Option 2

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), a provincial legislature may make laws for a province with regard to all matters which fall within the functional areas listed in Schedule 6.
- (2) With regard to the matters which fall within the functional areas listed in Schedule 6, Parliament may enact only framework legislation which sets out justifiable and necessary principles and which is generally applicable in all the provinces.

Option 3

Implemented by way of an override power (see section 159 option 3 subsection (1)(f)).

NECESSARY ANCILLARY POWERS

158. The legislative competence of Parliament and provincial legislatures includes the competence to make laws which are reasonably necessary for, or incidental to, the effective exercise of such competence.

PROVINCIAL REVENUE FUNDS

- 153. (1) There is a Provincial Revenue Fund for each province, into which all revenue as determined by national legislation, allocated to, or raised or received by the provincial government, or allocated through it to a local government, must be paid.
 - (2) No money may be withdrawn from a Provincial Revenue Fund except under appropriation made by an Act of the province concerned.

PROVINCIAL CONSTITUTIONS

ADOPTION AND CERTIFICATION

- 154. (1) A provincial legislature may adopt a constitution by resolution of at least two thirds of its members.
 - (2) A provincial constitution must be consistent with the Constitution; but, provided that it does not deviate from the principles embodied in the Constitution, it may -
 - (a) establish different legislative and executive structures and procedures; and
 - (b) provide for the institution, role, authority and status of a traditional monarch in the province.
 - (3) No provincial constitution and no amendment to a provincial constitution has force or effect unless the Constitutional Court has certified that all the provisions of the provincial constitution or of the amendment are consistent with this Constitution.

[A possible alternative formulation for section 154:

- (1) A provincial legislature may adopt a constitution by resolution of at least two thirds of its members.
- (2) A provincial constitution must embody the status and duties of a province according to this Constitution.
- (3) A provincial constitution must be consistent with this Constitution and the principles embodied in it, but a provincial constitution -
 - (a) may establish internal legislative and executive structures and procedures for the province different from those provided for in this Constitution, provided that -
 - (i) the provisions of the Constitution which preserve homogeneity among the provinces are not encroached upon;
 - [(ii) the second House consents to the advisability and necessity of the legislative and executive structures and procedures;] and
 - (iii) Parliament approves of the structures and procedures after apprising itself of their financial implications; and
 - (b) may provide for the institution, role, authority and status of a traditional monarch according to indigenous law in the province.
- (4) No provincial constitution and no amendment to a provincial constitution has force or effect unless the Constitutional Court has certified that all the provisions of the provincial constitution or of the amendment are consistent with this Constitution.
- (5) The Republic must ensure that the exercise of powers under a provincial constitution conforms to the Constitution and the constitutional status and duties of provinces.]

- (3) In the event of a dispute concerning legislative competence on any matter which falls within the functional areas listed in Schedule 5 -
 - (a) legislation is deemed to be necessary in terms of the requirements set out in subsection
 (1) if it has been consented to by the second House;
 - (b) subject to paragraph (a), the Constitutional Court or another court with jurisdiction may decide whether an Act of Parliament meets the requirements set out in subsection (1); and
 - (c) if the dispute cannot be resolved by a court on a construction of the Constitution, the national legislation prevails.

Option 4

- (1) A Provincial Act prevails over an Act of Parliament which deals with a matter allocated to the provinces, except to the extent that -
 - (a) the Act of Parliament deals with a matter that cannot be regulated effectively by provincial legislation;
 - (b) the Act of Parliament deals with a matter that must be regulated or co-ordinated by uniform management or administrative norms or standards generally applicable throughout the Republic for that matter to be dealt with effectively;
 - (c) the Act of Parliament is necessary to set minimum standards not provided by provincial legislation for the rendering of public services;
 - (d) the Act of Parliament is necessary for the maintenance of national economic unity or policies, the protection of the environment across provincial boundaries, the promotion of inter-provincial commerce, the protection of the common market in respect of the mobility of goods, services, capital or labour, or the maintenance of national security; or
 - (e) the Provincial Act materially prejudices the economic, health or security interests of another province or the Republic.
- (3) An Act of Parliament and a Provincial Act must be construed as being consistent with each other, unless, and only to the extent that they are, expressly or by necessary implication, inconsistent with each other.
- (4) If a dispute concerning a conflict between an Act of Parliament and a Provincial Act cannot be resolved by the Constitutional Court on a construction of the Constitution, the Act of Parliament prevails.
- (5) This section must be construed in terms of the principle that a power must be allocated to the level of government at which it can be exercised most effectively.

INTEGRITY OF PROVINCES

160. Parliament may not encroach on, or cause, enable or allow any encroachment on, the geographical, functional or institutional integrity of a province.

NATIONAL EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY AND THE PROVINCES

- 161. With the agreement of a provincial executive or a local government, the national executive may -
 - (a)appoint that provincial executive or local government as its agent to perform any of the functions of the national executive; or
 - (b)delegate to that provincial executive or local government the authority to perform any of the functions of the national executive.

EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY OF PROVINCES

162. (1) A province has executive authority over -

CONFLICT OF LEGISLATION

159.

Option 1

- (1) In the event of a conflict between an Act of Parliament and a Provincial Act with regard to any matter which falls within a functional area listed in Schedule 5, the Act of Parliament prevails over the Provincial Act where the elements of the Act of Parliament that are in conflict with the Provincial Act are necessary for -
 - (a) the establishment of generally applicable standards regarding -
 - (i) services rendered by the state;
 - (ii) the maintenance of economic unity; or
 - (iii) the determination of national economic policies; or
 - (b) the maintenance of the security of the Republic; or
 - (c) the prevention of prejudice to the Republic or any province caused by the activities of a province.
- (2) A parliamentary Bill concerning a matter which falls within a functional area listed in Schedule 5 must be introduced in the second House and requires the approval of both Houses. Upon application by at least one fifth of the members of the second House, and prior to the promulgation of the Bill, the Constitutional Court must determine without delay whether it conforms with the objective criteria prescribed in subsection (1).
- (3) If a dispute concerning a conflict between an Act of Parliament and a Provincial Act with regard to any matter which falls within a functional area specified in Schedule 5 cannot be resolved by a competent court on a construction of the Constitution, the Act of Parliament prevails.

Option 2 (applicable if section 155 option 2 is chosen)

In the event of a conflict between an Act of Parliament and a Provincial Act with regard to any matter which falls within a functional area listed in Schedule 5, the Act of Parliament prevails over the Provincial Act only to the extent that the Act of Parliament complies with section 155.

Option 3

- (1) In the event of a conflict between an Act of Parliament and a Provincial Act with regard to any matter which falls within a functional area listed in Schedule 5, the Act of Parliament prevails over the Provincial Act where the provisions of the Act of Parliament are necessary for -
 - (a) a function in respect of which uniformity across the nation is desirable;
 - (b) the Republic to speak with one voice or to act as a single entity, in particular in relation to other states;
 - (c) the maintenance of essential national standards required for the rendering of services, the maintenance of economic unity, the protection of the environment, the maintenance of national security, or the prevention of unreasonable action taken by one province which is prejudicial to the interests of another province or the country as a whole;
 - (d) the implementation of national economic policies or the promotion of equal living conditions, the power to promote interprovincial commerce and to protect the common market in respect of the mobility of goods, services, capital and labour;
 - (e) the provision of equality of opportunity in or access to a government service; or
 - (f) the establishment of a national framework for the provision of public services or the management of institutions relating to the provision of services.
- (2) Where a Provincial Act deals specifically with matters other than those referred to in subsection (1)(a) to (f) it prevails over national legislation.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT

GOVERNMENT AT LOCAL LEVEL

- 163. Government at local level must be established as a distinct tier of government to -
 - (a) enhance democracy and development;
 - (b) empower civil society to participate in local self-governance;
 - (c) improve service delivery to all communities;
 - (d) enhance social and economic development, economic viability, sustainability and self supportiveness;
 - (e) enhance partnership among the different tiers of government, and among the different categories of local government, civil society and international local government institutions; and
 - (f) ensure accountability, responsiveness and openness.

ESTABLISHMENT OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT

- 164. (1) The structures, powers and functions of government at the local level must be provided for in national or provincial legislation, or in both, in accordance with the framework provided by this Chapter.
 - (2) Local government structures must be established for the whole territory of the Republic and the legislation referred to in subsection (1) must provide for the demarcation of the areas of jurisdiction of local governments.
 - (3) A law referred to in subsection (1) may provide for different categories of local government with different powers, functions and structures.

GENERAL POWERS AND FUNCTIONS OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT

- 165. (1) A local government must have legislative and executive powers.
 - (2) A local government may make by-laws provided that they are not inconsistent with national or provincial legislation.
 - (3) A local government has executive authority over all matters in respect of which it has exercised its legislative competence, and matters assigned or delegated to it by national or provincial legislation, to allow it to function effectively.
 - (4) A local government must provide services for the maintenance and promotion of the well-being and good government of all persons within its area of jurisdiction, provided that the services can be rendered in a sustainable manner and are financially and physically practicable. It must also promote local economic development within a safe and healthy environment.
 - (5) A local government's competence to form and belong to associations for the protection and promotion of mutual interest and to co-operate with other local governments in this regard, is recognised.

ADMINISTRATION AND FINANCE

166. (1) Legislation referred to in section 164 must contain provisions aimed at ensuring that local government administration is based on sound principles of public administration, good governance, transparency and public accountability.

- (a) all matters in respect of which the provincial legislature has passed legislation [legislative competence]; and
- . (b) matters entrusted to the provincial executive in accordance with the Constitution.
- (2) With the agreement of the national executive or a local government within the province, a provincial executive may -
 - (a) appoint the national executive or that local government as its agent to perform any of the functions of the provincial executive; or
 - (b) delegate to the national executive or that local government the authority to perform any of the functions of the provincial executive.

LEGISLATIVE COMPETENCIES, POWERS AND FUNCTIONS

- 168. The legislative competencies, powers and functions of local government or different categories of local government, must be prescribed by legislation referred to in section 164, and include local or service development of the following functional areas:
 - Cleansing
 - Community services
 - Economic development
 - Environmental protection
 - Elections
 - Electricity
 - Health
 - Housing
 - Library services
 - Licensing
 - Parks and recreation
 - Planning
 - Produce markets
 - Protection
 - Rates, tariffs and taxes
 - Roads
 - Sewage
 - Storm water
 - Traffic
 - Transport
 - Water

- (3) Subject to conditions prescribed by legislation after taking into consideration any recommendations of the Financial and Fiscal Commission, a local government may levy and recover such property rates, levies, fees, taxes and tariffs as may be necessary to exercise its powers and perform its functions.
- (4) A local government may be entitled by legislation to a specifically allocated portion of national and provincial revenue, and the Financial and Fiscal Commission must make recommendations regarding criteria for such entitlement and allocations, taking into account the different categories of local government.
- (5) Any transfer of responsibilities to local government by another level of government, must be accompanied by an allocation of the financial and other resources required for their fulfilment.
- (6) All financial arrangements within a local government must be conducted by way of publicised budgets which must be constructed in accordance with the relevant legislation of a competent legislature.
- (7) Operational budgets must balance in that expenditure and income must be projected to be equal or to show a surplus of income over expenditure, and such balance must be maintained in the local government's financial dealings on the operating account in accordance with the legislation mentioned in subsection (6).
- (8) Local government is entitled to be represented on the Financial and Fiscal Commission.

ELECTIONS

- 167. (1) A local government must be elected democratically, and elections must take place in terms of applicable legislation.
 - (2) Elections for local government must take place at intervals of not more than five years.
 - (3) Members of a local government must be elected in accordance with a system of proportional representation, or ward representation, or both proportional and ward representation.
 - (4) Where a system of ward representation applies, independent candidates must not be discriminated against.
 - (5) Every natural person is entitled to vote in an election of a local government if that person -
 - (a) is qualified to vote in an election for the National Assembly;
 - (b) ordinarily resides in the area of that local government, or is liable for the payment of property rates, rent, service charges or levies to that local government in terms of any legislation; and
 - (c) is registered as a voter on the voters roll of that local government.
 - (6) Subsection (5)(b) does not entitle a voter to more than one vote per local government.
 - (7) No one is qualified to be a member of a local government if that person is -
 - (a) not entitled to vote in terms of subsection (5);
 - (b) a member of any legislature at the national, provincial or local level, except for representing the local government in another legislature in terms of any legislation;
 - (c) not qualified to become a member of the national or a provincial legislature;
 - (d) an employee of a local government unless exempted by legislation; and
 - (e) disqualified in terms of any legislation on any other ground.

PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION

BASIC VALUES AND PRINCIPLES GOVERNING PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION

- 171. (1) Public administration at all levels of government, including the administration of institutions that are dependent on government funds or other sources of public money, must be governed by the democratic values and principles enshrined in the Constitution, and the following principles apply:
 - (a) A high standard of professional ethics must be promoted and maintained.
 - (b) Efficient, economic and effective use of resources must be promoted.
 - (c) Public administration must be development oriented.
 - (d) Services must be provided impartially, fairly, equitably and without bias.
 - (e) People's needs must be responded to, and the public must be encouraged to participate in policy-making.
 - (f) Public administration must be accountable.
 - (g) Transparency must be fostered by providing the public with timely, accessible and accurate information.
 - (h) Good human-resource management and career-development practices, to maximise human potential, must be cultivated.
 - (i) Public administration must be broadly representative of the South African people, with employment and personnel management practices based on ability, objectivity, fairness, and the need to redress the imbalances of the past to achieve broad representation.
 - (2) The appointment in the public administration of a number of persons on policy considerations as regulated by national legislation is not precluded.
 - (3) Legislation regulating the public administration may differentiate between different sectors, administrations or institutions in the public administration.

PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION COMMISSION

- 172. (1) There is a single Public Administration Commission for the Republic, which is independent and must be impartial and regulated by national legislation. Each of the provinces may nominate a representative to be appointed to the Commission.
 - (2) The object of the Public Administration Commission is to promote the basic values and principles of public administration as prescribed by national legislation.
 - (3) Provincial representatives in the Public Administration Commission may exercise the powers and perform the functions of the Commission within the provinces, as prescribed by national legislation.
 - (4) The Public Administration Commission must account to Parliament.

PUBLIC SERVICE

173. (1) Within the public administration there is a public service for the Republic, which must function, and be structured, in terms of [national] legislation, and which must loyally execute the lawful policies of the government of the day.

TRADITIONAL AUTHORITIES

RECOGNITION

- 169. (1) The institution, status and role of traditional authorities, according to indigenous law, are recognised.
 - (2) A traditional authority which observes a system of indigenous law and which was recognised in terms of legislation immediately before the Constitution took effect, may continue to function subject to any applicable legislation and customs.
 - (3) The courts must apply indigenous law when that law is applicable, subject to the Constitution and any relevant legislation.

COUNCILS OF TRADITIONAL AUTHORITIES

170. National or provincial legislation may provide for the establishment of councils of traditional authorities to deal with matters of common interest.

(Note: Traditional authorities are still under discussion.)

SECURITY SERVICES

GOVERNING PRINCIPLES

- 174. The following principles govern the national security in the Republic:
 - (a) National security must reflect the resolve of all South Africans, as individuals and as a nation, to live as equals, to live in peace and harmony, to be free from fear and want, and to seek a better life.
 - (b) National security must be pursued in compliance with the law, including international law.
 - (c) National security is subject to the authority of Parliament and the Executive.

ESTABLISHMENT, STRUCTURING AND CONDUCT OF SECURITY SERVICES

- 175. (1) The security services of the Republic consist of a single defence force, a police service and any intelligence services established in terms of the Constitution.
 - (2) The defence force is the only lawful military force in the Republic. Other than the security services established in terms of the Constitution, armed organisations or services may be established only in terms of national legislation.
 - (3) The security services must be structured and regulated by national legislation.
 - (4) The security services must act, and must teach and require their members to act, in accordance with the Constitution and the law, including customary international law and international agreements binding on the Republic.
 - (5) No member of any security force may obey a manifestly illegal order.
 - (6) The security services must exercise their powers and perform their functions in the national interest; neither the security services nor any of their members may perform their functions in a manner that furthers, or prejudices, the interests of any political party.

DEFENCE

DEFENCE FORCE

- 176. (1) The defence force must be structured and managed as a disciplined military force.
 - (2) The primary object of the defence force is to defend and protect the Republic, its territorial integrity and its people, in accordance with the principles of international law regulating the use of force.

POLITICAL RESPONSIBILITY

- 177. (1) A member of the Cabinet must be responsible for defence.
 - (2) A multi-party committee of Parliament must have oversight over all defence matters.

- (2) The terms and conditions of employment in the public service must be regulated by national legislation. Employees are entitled to a fair pension as regulated by national legislation.
- (3) No employee of the public service may be favoured or prejudiced only because that person supports a particular political party or cause.

INTELLIGENCE

ESTABLISHMENT AND CONTROL OF INTELLIGENCE SERVICES

- 184. (1) The President may establish an intelligence service or services...
 - (2) The President must appoint a woman or a man as head of each intelligence service established in terms of subsection (1), and must either assume political responsibility for the control and direction of any of those services, or designate a member of the Cabinet to assume that responsibility.

Powers, functions and monitoring

- 185. National legislation must establish and regulate the objects, powers and functions of the intelligence services established in terms of section 184(1) and must provide for -
 - (a) a multi-party committee of Parliament to have oversight over the budgets of those services:
 - (b) civilian monitoring of the activities of those services by an inspector appointed by the President with the approval of the National Assembly by a resolution adopted by at least two thirds of its members; and
 - (c) co-ordination of all intelligence services, including any intelligence divisions of the defence force and the police service.

COMMAND OF DEFENCE FORCE

- 178. (1) The President must appoint a woman or a man as Chief of the defence force, to command the defence force.
 - (2) The Chief of the defence force must exercise command in accordance with the directions of the Cabinet member responsible for defence.

DEFENCE CIVILIAN SECRETARIAT

179. A civilian secretariat for defence must be established by national legislation to function under the direction of the Cabinet member responsible for defence, and to administer any matters entrusted to it by that Cabinet member or national legislation.

POLICE

POLICE SERVICE

- 180. (1) The national police service must be structured to function at national and provincial level, as set out in national legislation.
 - (2) National legislation must establish the powers and functions of the police service and must enable the police service to discharge its responsibilities effectively.
 - (3) The objects of the police service are to prevent and investigate crime, to maintain public order, and to protect and secure the Republic, its inhabitants and their property.

POLITICAL RESPONSIBILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY

- 181. (1) A member of the Cabinet must be responsible for policing.
 - (2) A multi-party committee of Parliament must have oversight over all police matters.

CONTROL OF POLICE SERVICE

- 182. (1) The President must appoint a woman or a man as National Commissioner of the police service, to control and manage the police service.
 - (2) The National Commissioner must exercise control over and manage the police service in accordance with the directions of the Cabinet member responsible for policing.
 - (3) The National Commissioner must appoint a woman or a man as provincial commissioner for each province, in accordance with national legislation.
 - (4) The National Commissioner may direct the provincial commissioners, who are each responsible for policing in their province, as prescribed by national legislation.
 - (5) Each provincial government is responsible for monitoring and oversight over the conduct and efficiency of the police service and for cultivating good relations between the police and the rest of the community in its province.

POLICE CIVILIAN SECRETARIAT

183. A civilian secretariat for the police service must be established by national legislation to function under the direction of the Cabinet member responsible for policing, and to exercise any powers and functions entrusted to it by that Cabinet member or national legislation.

GUARANTEES BY NATIONAL GOVERNMENT

- 190. The national government may guarantee a provincial or local government loan, only if -
 - (a) the guarantee complies with the norms and conditions for such a guarantee set out in national legislation; and
 - (b) the Financial and Fiscal Commission has made a recommendation concerning compliance of the guarantee with such norms and conditions.

ACCOUNTABILITY OF ENTERPRISES RECEIVING PUBLIC FUNDS

191. Any enterprise may be required to report to or give evidence before Parliament, in a manner determined by national legislation, if public money is invested in it, its sources of revenue are regulated by legislation, or it is able to raise revenue in terms of any legislation.

REMUNERATION OF PERSONS HOLDING PUBLIC OFFICE

- 192. (1) Any salaries, allowances and benefits of holders of any of the following persons must be as determined in terms of national legislation:
 - (a) Members of Parliament and the Cabinet, and Deputy Ministers.
 - (b) Members of provincial legislatures and Executive Councils.
 - (c) Members of local governments.
 - (d) Judges.
 - (e) The Public Protector, Auditor-General and members of any Commission established by Chapter 7.
 - (f) Traditional authorities and members of any councils of traditional leaders.
 - (2) National legislation must provide for the establishment of a Commission on Remuneration.
 - (3) The Commission may make recommendations -
 - (a) to Parliament on any legislation referred to in subsection (1); and
 - (b) to the national and provincial executives, local governments and any other authorities on the implementation of that legislation.

PERSONS HOLDING MORE THAN ONE OFFICE

- 193. (1) No one may hold more than one office of profit under the Republic.
 - (2) Anyone holding an office under the Republic which does not involve the payment to that person of remuneration for services rendered, is not regarded as holding an office of profit under the Republic.

FINANCIAL AND FISCAL COMMISSION

ESTABLISHMENT

194. There is a Financial and Fiscal Commission for the Republic, which is independent and subject only to the Constitution and the law, and which must be impartial.

FUNCTIONS

- 195. (1) The Commission may give advice and make recommendations to Parliament, provincial legislatures and any other authorities determined by national legislation regarding the financial and fiscal requirements of the national, provincial and local governments, including -
 - (a) financial and fiscal policies;
 - (b) criteria for the allocation of financial and fiscal resources;
 - (c) equitable allocations to national, provincial and local governments from revenue collected at national level;
 - (d) any taxes, levies, imposts, and surcharges that a provincial government intends to levy;

FINANCE

GENERAL FINANCIAL MATTERS

NATIONAL REVENUE FUND

- 186. (1) There is a National Revenue Fund into which all revenue, as determined by national legislation, raised or received by the national government, must be paid.
 - (2) No money may be withdrawn from the National Revenue Fund except under appropriation made by an Act of Parliament; but, a province's equitable share of revenue collected nationally is a direct charge against the National Revenue Fund to be credited [paid] to the Provincial Revenue Fund concerned.

NATIONAL AND PROVINCIAL BUDGETS

- 187. (1) National legislation must prescribe the format of national and provincial budgets and the procedure which must be followed when drawing them up.
 - (2) The national and provincial budgets must contain estimates of revenue and expenditure for the period to which they apply, including capital and current expenditure. The budgets must promote transparency, accountability and effective financial management of the public sector as a whole.

TREASURY CONTROL

- 188. (1) National legislation must -
 - (a) prescribe effective measures to ensure transparency, uniform and generally accepted
 accounting practices and expenditure classifications, expenditure control, and uniform
 treasury norms and standards at all levels of government;
 - (b) establish a national treasury and prescribe the framework within which provincial treasuries must act; and
 - (c) confer on the national treasury effective powers to stop the transfer of funds to any organ of state in the event of serious or persistent maladministration.
 - (2) Any action by the national treasury to stop the transfer of funds to a province must be ratified by Parliament within 30 days.

PROCUREMENT ADMINISTRATION

- 189. (1) The procurement of goods and services by organs of state at any level must be regulated in terms of national legislation, which must provide for independent and impartial tender boards to be appointed to deal with procurement.
 - (2) The tendering system must be fair, public and competitive.
 - (3) No person and no organ of state may interfere with a tender board.
 - (4) The decisions of a tender board must be recorded and open to public inspection, and a tender board must provide reasons for a decision if requested to do so by an interested party.

GENERAL PROVISIONS

INTERNATIONAL AGREEMENTS

- 201. (1) The Republic may be bound by international agreements which require ratification or accession under international law only if Parliament agrees by resolution in both the National Assembly and [the second House]. In both the National Assembly and [the second House], a majority of the members must be present for the resolution to be passed.
 - (2) An international agreement to which the Republic becomes a party and which does not require ratification or accession under international law must be tabled in the National Assembly and [the second House] within a reasonable time; but, an Act of Parliament may provide that an agreement that is published in the national Government Gazette need not be tabled.
 - (3) An international agreement becomes law in the Republic when it is enacted as law in terms of an Act of Parliament and published in the national Government Gazette.

CUSTOMARY INTERNATIONAL LAW

202. Customary international law forms part of the law of the Republic except when it is inconsistent with the Constitution or an Act of Parliament.

APPLICATION OF INTERNATIONAL LAW

203. Every court must presume that the law is consistent with customary international law and the Republic's obligations under any international agreement unless it is established that it is not.

- (e) the raising of loans by a provincial or local government and the norms and conditions that apply to those loans; and
- (f) any other matter assigned to the Commission by the Constitution or national legislation.
- (2) In performing its functions, the Commission must consider all relevant information including the national interest, economic disparities between the provinces, and their population and development needs, administrative responsibilities and other legitimate interests.

APPOINTMENT, QUALIFICATIONS, TENURE AND DISMISSAL OF MEMBERS

196. (Note: This matter is still under discussion)

REPORTS

197. The Commission must report regularly both to Parliament and to provincial legislatures as prescribed by national legislation.

CENTRAL BANK

ESTABLISHMENT

198. There is a South African Reserve Bank which is the central bank of the Republic, and is regulated by national legislation.

PRIMARY OBJECT

- 199. (1) The primary object of the South African Reserve Bank is to protect the value of the currency of the Republic in the interests of balanced and sustainable economic growth in the Republic.
 - (2) The South African Reserve Bank, in the pursuit of its primary object, must perform its functions independently and without fear, favour or prejudice, subject to national legislation; but, there must be regular consultation between the Bank and the Cabinet member responsible for national financial matters.

POWERS AND FUNCTIONS

200. The powers and functions of the South African Reserve Bank are those customarily exercised and performed by central banks, and must be determined by national legislation.

SCHEDULES

SCHEDULE 1 - NATIONAL TERRITORY AND PROVINCIAL BOUNDARIES

SCHEDULE 2 - NATIONAL FLAG

SCHEDULE 3 - OATHS AND AFFIRMATIONS

SCHEDULE 4 - ELECTIONS PROCEDURES

SCHEDULE 5 - PROVINCIAL FUNCTIONAL AREAS

Agriculature

Abattoirs

Airports, other than international and national airports

Animal control and diseases

Casinos, racing, gambling and wagering

Consumer protection

Cultural affairs

Education at all levels, excluding university and technikon education

Environment

Health Services

Housing

Indigenous Law and customary law

Language policy and the regulation of official languages within a province subject to section 3

Local government, subject to the provisions of Chapter 10

Markets and pounds

Nature conservation, excluding national parks, national botanical gardens and marine resources

Police subject to the provisions of Chapter 13

Provincial public media

Provincial sport and recreation

Public transport

Regional planning and development

Road traffic regulation

Roads

Soil conservation

Tourism

Trade and industrial promotion

Traditional authorities

Urban and rural development

Welfare services

SCHEDULE 6 - FRAMEWORK LEGISLATION

Notes